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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

 This report includes statements that are, or may be deemed to be, “forward-looking statements.” These 
forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including the terms 
“believes,” “estimates,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “may,” “will” or “should” or, in each case, their 
negative or other variations or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements include all matters that 
are not historical facts. They appear in a number of places throughout this report and include statements regarding 
our intentions, beliefs or current expectations concerning, among other things, our results of operations, financial 
condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies and the industry in which we operate. 

 By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events 
and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. We caution you that forward-looking 
statements are not guarantees of future performance and that our actual results of operations, financial condition and 
liquidity, and the developments in the industry in which we operate, may differ materially from those made in or 
suggested by the forward-looking statements contained in this report. In addition, even if our results of operations, 
financial condition and liquidity, and the developments in the industry in which we operate are consistent with the 
forward-looking statements contained in this report, those results of operations, financial condition and liquidity or 
developments may not be indicative of results or developments in subsequent periods. 

 Any forward-looking statements we make in this report speak only as of the date of such statement, and we 
undertake no obligation to update such statements. Comparisons of results for current and any prior periods are not 
intended to express any future trends or indications of future performance, unless expressed as such, and should only 
be viewed as historical data.

Presentation of Financial Information

 This Quarterly Report contains financial statements of McGraw-Hill Education, Inc. (formerly known as 
Georgia Holdings, Inc.). On March 22, 2013, MHE Acquisition, LLC, acquired all of the outstanding equity interests 
of certain subsidiaries of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. (“MHC”) pursuant to the Purchase and Sale 
Agreement, dated as of November 26, 2012 and as amended on March 4, 2013 (collectively, the “Acquired 
Business”). As a result of this transaction, investment funds affiliated with Apollo Global Management, LLC (the 
“Sponsors”) acquired 100% of MHE Acquisition, LLC. We refer to the purchase of the Acquired Business and the 
related financing transactions as the “Founding Acquisition.” MHC is now known as S&P Global Inc.

 We have restated our audited consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2016, 
2015 and 2014 and our unaudited consolidated financial statements for the three and six months ended June 30, 
2016. Refer to the restatement described in Note 2, "Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial 
Statements" to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

Use of Non-GAAP Financial Information 

 We have provided Billings, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA in this Quarterly Report because we believe 
they provide investors with additional information to measure our performance and evaluate our ability to service 
our indebtedness. 

 Management reviews these measures on a regular basis and uses them to evaluate and manage the 
performance of our business, make resource allocation decisions and compensate key management personnel as 
these measures provide comparability from period-to-period as sales of digital solutions represent an increasing 
percentage of our total sales during this time of transition. We believe that, for the reasons outlined herein, these 
non-GAAP financial measures provide useful information to investors and provide increased transparency and a 
better understanding of our business performance trends as a supplement to reported revenue, net income (loss) from 
continuing operations and operating cash flows. However, these measures should be evaluated only in conjunction 
with the comparable GAAP financial measures and should not be viewed as alternative or superior measures of 
GAAP results. 
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 Billings is a non-GAAP sales performance measure that we believe provides useful information in 
evaluating our period-to-period performance because it reflects the total amount of revenue that would have been 
recognized in a period if we recognized all print and digital revenue at the time of sale. We use Billings as a sales 
performance measure given that we typically collect full payment for our digital and print solutions at the time of 
sale or shortly thereafter, but recognize revenue from digital solutions and multi-year deliverables ratably over the 
term of our customer contracts. As sales of our digital learning solutions have increased, so has the amount of 
revenue that is deferred in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Billings is a key metric we use to manage our business as it 
reflects the sales activity in a given period, provides comparability from period-to-period during this time of digital 
transition and is the basis for all sales incentive compensation. In the K-12 market where customers typically pay for 
five to eight year contracts upfront and the ongoing costs to service any contractual obligation are limited, the 
impact of the change in deferred revenue is most significant. Billings is U.S. GAAP revenue plus the net change in 
deferred revenue. 
 

 We believe that the presentation of Adjusted EBITDA which is defined in accordance with our debt 
agreements is appropriate to provide additional information to investors about certain material non-cash items and 
about unusual items that we do not expect to continue at the same level in the future as well as other items to assess 
our debt covenant compliance, ability to service our indebtedness and make capital allocation decisions in 
accordance with our debt agreements. 

 Billings, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not presentations made in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and 
our use of these terms varies from others in our industry. Billings, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA should not be 
considered as alternatives to revenue, net income from continuing operations, operating cash flows, or any other 
performance measures derived in accordance with U.S. GAAP as measures of operating performance, debt covenant 
compliance or cash flows as measures of liquidity. Billings, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA have important 
limitations as analytical tools, and you should not consider them in isolation or as substitutes for analysis of our 
results as reported under U.S. GAAP. Further, EBITDA: 

• excludes certain tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us; 

• does not reflect any cash capital expenditure requirements for assets being depreciated and amortized 
that may have to be replaced in the future; 

• does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs; and 

• does not reflect the significant interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or 
principal payments, on our indebtedness. 

 
 In addition, Adjusted EBITDA, as defined in accordance with our debt agreements: 

• includes estimated cost savings and operating synergies, including some adjustments not permitted 
under Article 11 of Regulation S-X; 

• does not include one-time expenditures, including costs required to realize the synergies referred to 
above; 

• reflects the net effect of converting deferred revenues and deferred royalties to a cash basis assuming the 
collection of all receivable balances and payment of all amounts owed; 

• does not include management fees paid to entities and investment funds affiliated with Apollo Global 
Management, LLC, which will discontinue upon completion of this offering; and 

• does not reflect the impact of earnings or charges resulting from matters that we and the lenders under 
our senior secured credit facilities may consider not to be indicative of our ongoing operations. 
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 Our definition of Adjusted EBITDA allows for the add back of certain non-cash and other charges or costs 
that are deducted in calculating net income from continuing operations. However, these are expenses that may recur, 
vary greatly and can be difficult to predict. They can represent the effect of long-term strategies as opposed to short-
term results. In addition, certain of these expenses can represent the reduction of cash that could be used for other 
corporate purposes. Because of these limitations, we rely primarily on our U.S. GAAP results and use Billings, 
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA only supplementally. 

Trademarks 

This Quarterly Report contains references to our trademarks and service marks. Solely for convenience, 
trademarks and trade names referred to in this Quarterly Report may appear without the ® or TM symbols, but such 
references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, 
our rights or the rights of the applicable licensor to these trademarks and trade names. We do not intend our use or 
display of other companies’ trade names, trademarks or service marks to imply a relationship with, or endorsement 
or sponsorship of us by, any other companies. 
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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

McGraw-Hill Education, Inc. and subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Unaudited; dollars in thousands, except per share data)
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         

As Restated

Three Months Ended 
 June 30, 2017

Three Months Ended 
 June 30, 2016

Revenue $ 405,378 $ 437,168
Cost of sales 105,563 122,148

Gross profit 299,815 315,020
Operating expenses
Operating and administration expenses 266,725 267,599
Depreciation 10,756 8,529
Amortization of intangibles 22,417 22,490

Total operating expenses 299,898 298,618
Operating (loss) income (83) 16,402

Interest expense (income), net 44,106 63,755
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 26,562
Other (income) (12,888) —

(Loss) income from operations before taxes on income (31,301) (73,915)
Income tax (benefit) provision 5,753 2,826

Net (loss) income from continuing operations (37,054) (76,741)
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations, net of
taxes 19 (624)

Net (loss) income $ (37,035) $ (77,365)

Net (loss) earnings per share from continuing operations, basic
and diluted $ (3.51) $ (7.27)
Net (loss) earnings per share $ (3.50) $ (7.33)
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diluted 10,570 10,550

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

(Unaudited; dollars in thousands, except per share data)
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As Restated

Six Months Ended 
 June 30, 2017

Six Months Ended 
 June 30, 2016

Revenue $ 686,109 $ 697,998
Cost of sales 172,049 182,353

Gross profit 514,060 515,645
Operating expenses
Operating and administration expenses 526,967 534,703
Depreciation 21,797 20,775
Amortization of intangibles 45,021 45,305

Total operating expenses 593,785 600,783
Operating (loss) income (79,725) (85,138)

Interest expense (income), net 87,340 111,280
Loss on debt extinguishment — 26,562
Other (income) (12,888) —

(Loss) income from operations before taxes on income (154,177) (222,980)
Income tax (benefit) provision 6,377 4,383

Net (loss) income from continuing operations (160,554) (227,363)
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations, net of
taxes (480) (1,460)

Net (loss) income $ (161,034) $ (228,823)

Net (loss) earnings per share from continuing operations, basic
and diluted $ (15.19) $ (21.60)
Net (loss) earnings per share $ (15.23) $ (21.74)
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diluted 10,573 10,525

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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(Unaudited; dollars in thousands)
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As Restated

Three Months Ended 
 June 30, 2017

Three Months Ended 
 June 30, 2016

Net (loss) income $ (37,035) $ (77,365)
Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Foreign currency translation adjustment 3,804 648
Unrealized gain (loss) on interest rate swap agreements, net
of tax (2,620) —

Comprehensive (loss) income $ (35,851) $ (76,717)

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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As Restated

Six Months Ended 
 June 30, 2017

Six Months Ended 
 June 30, 2016

Net (loss) income $ (161,034) $ (228,823)
Other comprehensive (loss) income:

Foreign currency translation adjustment 9,205 5,286
Unrealized gain (loss) on interest rate swap agreements, net
of tax (5,405) —

Comprehensive (loss) income $ (157,234) $ (223,537)

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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As Restated

June 30, 2017 December 31, 2016

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 133,366 $ 418,753
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $14,170 and
$14,086 and sales returns of $80,363 and $121,951 as of June 30, 2017 and
December 31, 2016, respectively 351,396 265,764
Inventories, net 208,883 174,659
Prepaid and other current assets 93,939 101,729

Total current assets 787,584 960,905
Pre-publication costs, net 169,848 161,385
Property, plant and equipment, net 99,872 96,704
Goodwill 494,549 492,115
Other intangible assets, net 701,187 741,828
Investments 6,039 5,363
Deferred income taxes 9,095 11,261
Other non-current assets 127,412 108,514

Total assets $ 2,395,586 $ 2,578,075
Liabilities and equity (deficit)
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 120,393 $ 129,491
Accrued royalties 78,911 117,268
Accrued compensation 47,225 61,145
Deferred revenue 327,921 339,049
Current portion of long-term debt 75,750 15,750
Other current liabilities 115,253 119,769

Total current liabilities 765,453 782,472
Long-term debt 2,282,041 2,329,506
Deferred income taxes 42,553 38,902
Long-term deferred revenue 578,203 550,280
Other non-current liabilities 33,870 27,003

Total liabilities 3,702,120 3,728,163
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)
Stockholders' equity (deficit)

Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share; 1,000,000 shares authorized, 100,000
issued and 37,500 outstanding as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016,
respectively — —
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share; 100,000,000 shares authorized,
10,628,687 and 10,606,117 shares issued as of June 30, 2017 and December 31,
2016, respectively; and 10,571,059 and 10,567,864 shares outstanding as of June
30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively 104 104
Additional paid in capital 3,115 —
Treasury stock, 57,630 and 38,253 shares as of June 30, 2017 and December 31,
2016, respectively (9,054) (6,727)
Accumulated deficit (1,246,761) (1,085,727)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (53,938) (57,738)

Total stockholders' equity (deficit) (1,306,534) (1,150,088)
Total liabilities and equity (deficit) $ 2,395,586 $ 2,578,075

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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As Restated
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2017
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2016
Operating activities
Net (loss) income from continuing operations $ (160,554) $ (227,363)
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations, net of taxes (480) (1,460)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation (including amortization of technology projects) 21,797 20,775
Amortization of intangibles 45,021 45,305
Amortization of pre-publication costs 40,022 32,356
Gain on sale of investment (4,931) —
Gain on dispositions (5,857) —
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 26,562
Provision for losses on accounts receivable 2,365 1,910
Inventory obsolescence 8,973 8,964
Deferred income taxes 5,817 3,642
Stock-based compensation 8,448 7,176
Amortization of debt discount 4,458 3,438
Amortization of deferred financing costs 6,084 25,190
Restructuring charges 2,236 1,524
Other (895) 171

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of the effect of acquisitions
Accounts receivable (80,146) (66,095)
Inventories (42,516) (61,781)
Prepaid and other current assets 7,889 (11,322)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (62,289) (96,361)
Deferred revenue 17,250 8,920
Other current liabilities (2,697) (8,776)
Net change in prepaid and accrued income taxes (107) (1,609)
Net change in operating assets and liabilities (26,279) (1,312)

Cash (used for) provided by operating activities (216,391) (290,146)
Investing activities
Investment in pre-publication costs (49,065) (31,100)
Capital expenditures (21,641) (18,308)
Proceeds from sale of investment 4,931 —
Proceeds from disposition 2,205 —

Cash provided by (used for) investing activities (63,570) (49,408)
Financing activities
Borrowings on MHGE Senior Notes — 400,000
Borrowings on Term Loan Facility — 1,567,125
Borrowings on Revolving Facility 60,000 60,000
Repurchase of MHGE PIK Toggle Notes (48,120) —
Payment of Term Loan Facility (7,875) —
Payment of MHGE Senior Secured Notes — (860,003)
Payment of MHGE Term Loan and MHSE Term Loan — (918,907)
Payment of deferred financing costs — (37,784)
Payment of capital lease obligations (3,190) (824)
Repurchase of common stock (1,991) (861)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options — 478
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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Repurchase of vested stock options and restricted stock units (3,720) (7,739)
Dividends to common stockholders — (300,629)
Dividend equivalents on vested stock options (1,295) (10,761)
Dividend equivalents on vested restricted stock units (1,448) (8,262)

Cash provided by (used for) financing activities (7,639) (118,167)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 2,213 852

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (285,387) (456,869)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 418,753 553,194
Cash and cash equivalents, ending balance $ 133,366 $ 96,325
Supplemental disclosures

Cash paid for interest expense $ 79,107 $ 85,217
Cash paid for income taxes 4,855 3,276

See accompanying notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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1. Basis of Presentation and Accounting Policies

 McGraw-Hill Education Inc. (“MHE”, the “Company”, “Parent”, “we”, “us”, or “our”),  is a global provider 
of outcome-focused learning solutions, delivering both curated content and digital learning tools and platforms to 
the students in the classrooms of approximately 250,000 higher education instructors, 13,000 K-12 school districts 
and a wide variety of academic institutions, professionals and companies in 140 countries. We have evolved our 
business from a print-centric producer of textbooks and instructional materials to the development of digital content 
and technology-enabled adaptive learning solutions that are delivered anywhere, anytime. Our business is comprised 
of the following four operating segments:

• Higher Education: We are a top-three provider in the United States higher education market. We provide 
students, instructors and institutions with adaptive digital learning tools, digital platforms, custom 
publishing solutions and traditional printed textbook products. The primary users of our solutions are 
students enrolled in two- and four-year non-profit colleges and universities, and to a lesser extent, for profit 
institutions. We sell our Higher Education solutions to well-known online retailers, distribution partners and 
college bookstores, who subsequently sell to students. We also increasingly sell via our proprietary e-
commerce platform, primarily directly to students.

• K-12: We are a top-three provider in the United States K-12 curriculum and learning solutions market. We 
sell our learning solutions directly to K-12 school districts across the United States. While we offer all of 
our major curriculum and learning solutions in digital format, given the varying degrees of availability and 
maturity of our customers’ technological infrastructure, a majority of our sales are derived from selling 
blended print and digital solutions. 

• International: We leverage our global scale, brand recognition and extensive product portfolio to serve 
students in the higher education, K-12 and professional markets in 140 countries outside of the United 
States. Our products and solutions for the International segment are produced in more than 60 languages 
and primarily originate from our offerings produced for the United States market and that are later adapted 
to different international markets. 

• Professional: We are a leading provider of medical, technical, engineering and business content for the 
professional, education and test preparation communities. 

Principles of Consolidation

 The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("U.S. GAAP") and all significant intercompany transactions and 
balances have been eliminated. In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial 
statements include all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair 
presentation.

Seasonality and Comparability

 Our revenues, operating profit and operating cash flows are affected by the inherent seasonality of the 
academic calendar, which varies by country. Changes in our customers’ ordering patterns may impact the 
comparison of our results in a quarter with the same quarter of the previous year, or in a fiscal year with the prior 
fiscal year, where our customers may shift the timing of material orders for any number of reasons, including, but 
not limited to, changes in academic semester start dates or changes to their inventory management practices.
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Use of Estimates

 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. 
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

 On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions, including those related to revenue 
recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts and sales returns, inventories, pre-publication costs, accounting for the 
impairment of long-lived assets (including other intangible assets), goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, 
restructuring, stock-based compensation, income taxes and contingencies. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents include bank deposits and highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less that consist primarily of interest bearing demand deposits with daily liquidity, money market 
and time deposits. The balance also includes cash that is held by the Company outside the United States to fund 
international operations or to be reinvested outside of the United States. The investments and bank deposits are 
stated at cost, which approximates market value and were $133,366 and $418,753 as of June 30, 2017 and 
December 31, 2016, respectively. These investments are not subject to significant market risk.

Accounts Receivable

 Credit is extended to customers based upon an evaluation of the customer’s financial condition. Accounts 
receivable are recorded at net realizable value.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Sales Returns

 The allowance for doubtful accounts and sales returns reserves methodology is based on historical analysis, 
a review of outstanding balances and current conditions. In determining these reserves, we consider, among other 
factors, the financial condition and risk profile of our customers, areas of specific or concentrated risk as well as 
applicable industry trends or market indicators. The allowance for sales returns is a significant estimate, which is 
based on historical rates of return and current market conditions. The provision for sales returns is reflected as a 
reduction to “Revenues” in our consolidated statements of operations. Sales returns are charged against the reserve 
as products are returned to inventory. Accounts receivable losses for bad debt are charged against the allowance for 
doubtful accounts when the receivable is determined to be uncollectible. The change in the allowance for doubtful 
accounts is reflected as part of operating and administrative expenses in our consolidated statement of operations.

Concentration of Credit Risk

 As of June 30, 2017, no customer comprised more than 10%, and as of December 31, 2016, two customers 
comprised 25% of the gross accounts receivable balance which is reflective of concentration and seasonality in our 
industry. In addition, the Company mitigates concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable by 
performing ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and by periodically entering into arrangements with third 
parties who have agreed to purchase our accounts receivables of certain customers in the event of the customer's 
financial inability to pay, subject to certain limitations.

 The Company had no single customer that accounted for 10% of our gross revenue for the three months 
ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. The Company had no single customer that accounted for 10% of our gross revenue 
for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. The loss of, or any reduction in sales from, a significant customer 
or deterioration in their ability to pay could harm our business and financial results.

Inventories

 Inventories, consisting principally of physical books, are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or 
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market value. The majority of our inventories relate to finished goods. A significant estimate, the reserve for 
inventory obsolescence, is reflected in operating and administration expenses. In determining this reserve, we 
consider management’s current assessment of the marketplace, industry trends and projected product demand as 
compared to the number of units currently on hand. 

Pre-publication Costs

 Pre-publication costs include both the cost of developing educational content and the development of 
assessment solution products. Costs incurred prior to the publication date of a title or release date of a product 
represent activities associated with product development. These may be performed internally or outsourced to 
subject matter specialists and include, but are not limited to, editorial review and fact verification, graphic art design 
and layout and the process of conversion from print to digital media or within various formats of digital media. 
These costs are capitalized when the costs can be directly attributable to a project or title and the title is expected to 
generate probable future economic benefits. Capitalized costs are amortized upon publication of the title over its 
estimated useful life of up to six years, with a higher proportion of the amortization typically taken in the earlier 
years. Amortization expenses for prepublication costs are charged as a component of operating and administration 
expenses. In evaluating recoverability, we consider management’s current assessment of the marketplace, industry 
trends and the projected success of programs. 

Property, Plant and Equipment

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation as of June 30, 2017 and 
December 31, 2016. Depreciation and amortization are recorded on a straight-line basis, over the assets’ estimated 
useful lives. Buildings have an estimated useful life, for purposes of depreciation, from ten to forty years. Furniture, 
fixtures and equipment are depreciated over periods not exceeding twelve years. Leasehold improvements are 
amortized over the life of the lease or the life of the assets, whichever is shorter. The Company evaluates the 
depreciation periods of property, plant and equipment to determine whether events or circumstances warrant revised 
estimates of useful lives.

Royalty Advances

 Royalty advances are initially capitalized and subsequently expensed as related revenues are earned or 
when the Company determines future recovery is not probable. The Company has a long history of providing 
authors with royalty advances, and it tracks each advance earned with respect to the sale of the related publication. 
Historically, the longer the unearned portion of the advance remains outstanding, the less likely it is that the 
Company will recover the advance through the sale of the publication, as the related royalties earned are applied first 
against the remaining unearned portion of the advance. The Company applies this historical experience to its 
existing outstanding royalty advances to estimate the likelihood of recovery. Additionally, the Company’s editorial 
staff reviews its portfolio of royalty advances at a minimum quarterly to determine if individual royalty advances are 
not recoverable for discrete reasons, such as the death of an author prior to completion of a title or titles, a Company 
decision to not publish a title, poor market demand or other relevant factors that could impact recoverability. Based 
on this information, the portion of any advance that we believe is not recoverable is expensed.

Deferred Technology Costs

 We capitalize certain software development and website implementation costs. Capitalized costs only 
include incremental, direct costs of materials and services incurred to develop the software after the preliminary 
project stage is completed, funding has been committed and it is probable that the project will be completed and 
used to perform the function intended. Incremental costs are expenditures that are out-of-pocket to us and are not 
part of an allocation or existing expense base. Software development and website implementation costs are expensed 
as incurred during the preliminary project stage. Capitalized costs are amortized from the period the software is 
ready for its intended use over its estimated useful life, three to seven years, using the straight-line method and are 
included within depreciation in the consolidated statements of operations. Periodically, we evaluate the amortization 
methods, remaining lives and recoverability of such costs. Capitalized software development and website 
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implementation costs are included in other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheets and are presented 
net of accumulated amortization. Gross deferred technology costs were $108,864 and $93,234 as of June 30, 2017 
and December 31, 2016, respectively. Accumulated amortization of deferred technology costs were $54,011 and 
$42,427 as of June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. 

Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets (Including Other Intangible Assets)

 We evaluate long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Upon such an occurrence, recoverability of assets to be held 
and used is measured by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to current forecasts of undiscounted future net 
cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its estimated future 
cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized equal to the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset 
exceeds the fair value of the asset. Long-lived assets held for sale are written down to fair value, less cost to sell. 
Fair value is determined based on market evidence, discounted cash flows, appraised values or management’s 
estimates, depending upon the nature of the assets.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

 Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related costs over the fair value of identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of the 
Company's acquired brands. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized, but instead are tested 
for impairment annually during the fourth quarter each year, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. We have four reporting units, Higher Education, K-12, 
International, and Professional with goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets that are evaluated for 
impairment.

 We initially perform a qualitative analysis evaluating whether there are events or circumstances that 
provide evidence that it is more likely than not that the fair value of any of our reporting units or indefinite-lived 
intangible assets are less than their carrying amount. If, based on our evaluation we do not believe that it is more 
likely than not that the fair value of any of our reporting units or indefinite-lived intangible assets are less than their 
carrying amount, no quantitative impairment test is performed. Conversely, if the results of our qualitative 
assessment determine that it is more likely than not that the fair value of any of our reporting units or indefinite-
lived intangible assets are less than their respective carrying amounts we perform a two-step quantitative impairment 
test.

 During the first step, the estimated fair value of the reporting units are compared to their carrying value 
including goodwill and the estimated fair value of the intangible assets is compared to their carrying value. Fair 
values of the reporting units are estimated using the income approach, which incorporates the use of a discounted 
free cash flow analysis, and are corroborated using the market approach, which incorporates the use of revenue and 
earnings multiples based on market data. The discounted free cash flow analyses are based on the current operating 
budgets and estimated long-term growth projections for each reporting unit. Future cash flows are discounted based 
on a market comparable weighted average cost of capital rate for each reporting unit, adjusted for market and other 
risks where appropriate.  Fair values of indefinite-lived intangible assets are estimated using avoided royalty 
discounted free cash flow analyses. Significant judgments inherent in these analyses include the selection of 
appropriate royalty and discount rates and estimating the amount and timing of expected future cash flows. The 
discount rates used in the discounted free cash flow analyses reflect the risks inherent in the expected future cash 
flows generated by the respective intangible assets. The royalty rates used in the discounted free cash flow analyses 
are based upon an estimate of the royalty rates that a market participant would pay to license the Company's trade 
names and trademarks.

 If the fair value of the reporting units or indefinite-lived intangible assets are less than their carrying value, 
a second step is performed which compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill or indefinite-lived 
intangible assets to the carrying value. The fair value of the goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets is 
determined based on the difference between the fair value of the reporting unit and the net fair value of the 
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identifiable assets and liabilities of the reporting unit or carrying value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset. If the 
implied fair value of the goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets is less than the carrying value, the difference 
is recognized as an impairment charge. Significant judgments inherent in this analysis include estimating the amount 
and timing of future cash flows and the selection of appropriate discount rates, royalty rate and long-term growth 
rate assumptions. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value 
for each reporting unit and indefinite-lived intangible asset and for some of the reporting units and indefinite-lived 
intangible assets could result in an impairment charge, which could be material to our financial position and results 
of operations.

Fair Value Measurements

 In accordance with authoritative guidance for fair value measurements, certain assets and liabilities are 
required to be recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. Fair value is defined as the amount that would be received 
to sell an asset or transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. A fair value hierarchy has 
been established which requires us to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable 
inputs when measuring fair value. 

 The three levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows:

• Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; 
quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by 
observable market data for substantially the full term of the asset or liabilities.

• Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to 
the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

Foreign Currency Translation

 We have operations in many foreign countries. For most international operations, the local currency is the 
functional currency. For international operations that are determined to be extensions of the U.S. operations or where 
a majority of revenue and/or expenses is USD denominated, the United States dollar is the functional currency. For 
local currency operations, assets and liabilities are translated into United States dollars using end-of-period exchange 
rates, and revenue and expenses are translated into United States dollars using weighted-average exchange rates. 
Foreign currency translation adjustments are accumulated in a separate component of equity.

Stock-Based Compensation

 The Company issues stock options and other stock-based compensation to eligible employees, directors and 
consultants and accounts for these transactions under the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 
718, Compensation - Stock Compensation. For equity awards, total compensation cost is based on the grant date fair 
value. For liability awards, total compensation cost is based on the fair value of the award on the date the award is 
granted and is remeasured at each reporting date until settlement. For performance-based options issued, the value of 
the instrument is measured at the grant date as the fair value of the common stock and expensed over the vesting 
term when the performance targets are considered probable of being achieved. The Company recognizes stock-based 
compensation expense for all awards, on a straight-line basis, over the service period required to earn the award, 
which is typically the vesting period.

Revenue Recognition

 Revenue is recognized as it is earned when goods are shipped to customers or services are rendered. We 
consider amounts to be earned once evidence of an arrangement has been obtained, services are performed, fees are 
fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured.
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Arrangements with multiple deliverables

 Revenue relating to products that provide for more than one deliverable is recognized based upon the 
relative fair value to the customer of each deliverable as each deliverable is provided.  Revenue relating to 
agreements that provide for more than one service is recognized based upon the relative fair value to the customer of 
each service component as each component is earned.  If the fair value to the customer for each service is not 
determinable based on stand-alone selling price, we make our best estimate of the services’ stand-alone selling price 
and recognize revenue as earned as the services are delivered.  Because we determine the basis for allocating 
consideration to each deliverable primarily on prices experienced from completed sales, the portion of consideration 
allocated to each deliverable in a multiple deliverable arrangement may increase or decrease depending on the most 
recent selling price of a comparable product or service sold on a stand-alone basis.  For example, as the demand for, 
and prevalence of, digital products increases, as new sales occur we may be required to increase the amount of 
consideration allocable to digital products included in multiple deliverable arrangements because the fair value of 
such products or services may increase relative to other products or services bundled in the arrangement.  
Conversely, in the event that demand for our print products decreases, thereby causing us to experience reduced 
prices on our print products, we may be required to allocate less consideration to our print products in our 
arrangements that include multiple deliverables.

Subscription-based products

 Subscription income is recognized over the related subscription period that the subscription is available and 
is used by the customer.  Subscription revenue received or receivable in advance of the delivery of services or 
publications is included in deferred revenue. Incremental costs that are directly related to the subscription revenue 
are deferred and amortized over the subscription period. Included among the underlying assumptions related to our 
estimates that impact the recognition of subscription income is the extent of our responsibility to provide access to 
our subscription-based products, and the extent of complementary support services customers demand to access our 
products.

Service arrangements

 Revenue relating to arrangements that provide for more than one service is recognized based upon the 
relative fair value to the customer of each service component as each component is earned. Such arrangements may 
include digital products bundled with traditional print products, obligations to provide products and services in the 
future at no additional cost, and periodic training pertinent to products and services previously provided. If the fair 
value to the customer for each service is not objectively determinable, we make our best estimate of the services’ 
stand-alone selling price and recognize revenue as earned as the services are delivered. 

Shipping and Handling Costs

 All amounts billed to customers in a sales transaction for shipping and handling are classified as revenue. 
Shipping and handling costs are also a component of cost of sales. 

Income Taxes

 The Company’s operations are subject to United States federal, state and local income taxes, and foreign 
income taxes.

 We determine the provision for income taxes using the asset and liability approach. Under this approach, 
deferred income taxes represent the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities.

 Valuation allowances are established when management determines that it is more-likely-than not that some 
portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Management evaluates the weight of both positive and 
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negative evidence in determining whether a deferred tax asset will be realized. Management will look to a history of 
losses, future reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, taxable income in carryback years, feasibility of tax 
planning strategies, and estimated future taxable income. The valuation allowance can also be affected by changes in 
tax laws and changes to statutory tax rates.

 We prepare and file tax returns based on management’s interpretation of tax laws and regulations. As with 
all businesses, our tax returns are subject to examination by various taxing authorities. Such examinations may result 
in future tax assessments based on differences in interpretation of the tax law and regulations. We adjust our 
estimated uncertain tax positions reserves based on audits by and settlements with various taxing authorities as well 
as changes in tax laws, regulations, and interpretations. We recognize interest and penalties on uncertain tax 
positions as part of interest expense and operating expenses, respectively.

Contingencies

 We accrue for loss contingencies when both (a) information available prior to issuance of the financial 
statements indicates that it is probable that a liability had been incurred at the date of the financial statements and (b) 
the amount of loss can reasonably be estimated. When we accrue for loss contingencies and the reasonable estimate 
of the loss is within a range, we record its best estimate within the range. We disclose an estimated possible loss or a 
range of loss when it is at least reasonably possible that a loss may have been incurred. Neither an accrual nor 
disclosure is required for losses that are deemed remote.

Earnings (Loss) per Share

 The Company computes net income (loss) per share in accordance with ASC 260, Earnings per Share, 
which requires presentation of both basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) on the face of the income 
statement. Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common shareholders (numerator) by 
the weighted average number of shares outstanding (denominator) during the period. Diluted EPS gives effect to all 
dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period using the treasury stock method and convertible 
preferred stock using the if-converted method. Diluted EPS excludes all dilutive potential shares if their effect is 
anti-dilutive.

Recent Accounting Standards

 In May 2017, the the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards 
Update (“ASU”) 2017-09, "Modification Accounting for Share-Based Payment Arrangements", which identifies and 
provides guidance on the types of changes to share-based payment awards that an entity would be required to apply 
modification accounting under ASU 2016-09, Stock Compensation (Topic 718). Specifically, an entity would not 
apply modification accounting if the fair value, vesting conditions and classification of the awards are the same 
immediately before and after the modification. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2017 and should be applied prospectively to awards modified on or after the effective date. The 
Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

 In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, “Statement of Cashflows (Topic 230) Classification of 
Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments.” which clarifies the classification of certain cash receipts and cash 
payments in the statement of cash flows, including debt prepayment or extinguishment costs, settlement of 
contingent consideration arising from a business combination, insurance settlement proceeds, and distributions from 
certain equity method investees. The standard is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after 
December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance 
on its consolidated financial statements.

 In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, “Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718).” 
This standard makes several modifications to Topic 718 related to the accounting for forfeitures, employer tax 
withholding on share-based compensation and the financial statement presentation of excess tax benefits or 
deficiencies. This standard also clarifies the statement of cash flows presentation for certain components of share-
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based awards. The standard is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, 
with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-09 during the three months ended March 31, 
2017. As a result, we recognized excess tax benefits of $15,444 which is recorded as a non-current deferred tax asset 
with a corresponding offsetting full valuation allowance to yield no tax impact. The changes have been applied 
prospectively and prior periods have not been adjusted. No other material changes resulted from the adoption of this 
standard.

 In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases.” This ASU requires that a lessee record an 
operating lease in the balance sheet with a liability to make lease payments and a right-of-use asset representing its 
right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. This standard is effective for annual and interim periods 
beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. Adoption of this standard will be on a modified 
retrospective approach, which includes a number of optional practical expedients that the Company may elect to 
apply. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

 In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, “Inventory (Topic 330) Related to Simplifying the 
Measurement of Inventory,” that applies to all inventory except that which is measured using last-in, first-out (LIFO) 
or the retail inventory method. Inventory measured using first-in, first-out (FIFO) or average cost is within the scope 
of the new guidance and should be measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable cost of completion, disposal, 
and transportation. Subsequent measurement is unchanged for inventory measured using LIFO of the retail 
inventory method. The amendments are effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2016, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The new guidance should be applied 
prospectively, and earlier application is permitted as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period. The 
adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

 In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” which 
supersedes most of the current revenue recognition requirements.  The core principle of the new guidance is that an 
entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. New 
disclosures about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with 
customers are also required. Entities must adopt the new guidance using one of two retrospective application 
methods. In 2016, the FASB issued several amendments to the standard, including principal versus agent 
considerations when another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the application of 
identifying performance obligations and licenses of intellectual property. This guidance is effective for annual 
periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 
2018. Early adoption is permitted. 

 In early 2016, the Company established a cross-functional implementation team consisting of 
representatives from all of our business segments.  The implementation efforts consist of analyzing the impact of the 
standard on our revenue streams by reviewing our current accounting policies and practices to identify potential 
differences that would result from applying the requirements of the new standard to our revenue contracts.  The 
Company will transition either using a full retrospective approach or a modified retrospective approach. While the 
Company is currently evaluating the method of adoption and the impact of the new revenue standard, as amended, 
on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures, the Company believes the adoption of the new 
standard will primarily impact its accounting for direct incremental costs of obtaining its customer contracts. The 
new standard requires deferral of certain direct incremental costs with amortization consistent with the pattern of 
transfer of each performance obligation.

 Recently issued FASB accounting standard codification updates, except for the above standards, did not 
have a material impact to the Company’s unaudited consolidated financial statements for the period ended June 30, 
2017.
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2. Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements

 We have restated our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2016 and our consolidated statement 
of operations and comprehensive income (loss), consolidated statement of changes in equity (deficit) and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 and the related notes to the 
consolidated financial statements (herein referred to as the “Restatement”). The Restatement reflects the correction 
of errors related to the accounting for revenue recognition and the deferred tax asset valuation allowance as 
described below:

• The Company concluded that it previously did not defer certain revenues related to print subscription 
products resulting in an overstatement of revenue recognized in all periods presented; 

• During 2016, the Company entered into certain customer contracts containing multiple element 
arrangements, including free with order digital subscription products. The Company concluded that it 
previously did not properly identify and account for the free with order digital subscription products as a 
separate deliverable resulting in an overstatement of revenue recognized in the quarterly periods within 
2016; and

•  The Company concluded that its historical calculation of the deferred tax asset valuation allowance netted 
certain deferred tax liabilities related to indefinite lived intangible assets resulting in an understatement of 
our valuation allowance and the domestic provision for income taxes in all periods presented.

 The Company also identified and corrected other individually immaterial errors in addition to those noted 
above as part of this Restatement.  The Company evaluated the impact of the errors described above on prior 
periods, assessing materiality quantitatively and qualitatively, and concluded that the errors were material to 
previously issued quarterly and annual financial statements. Accordingly, the Company has restated its consolidated 
financial statements for the three and six months ended June 30, 2016, inclusive of restatements for the three months 
ended March 31, 2016.

 In addition to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance error, the Company recorded tax adjustments to 
reflect the impacts of the Restatement. See Note 9, "Taxes on Income".
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 The table below summarizes the effects of the Restatement on our consolidated statement of operations for 
the three and six months ended June 30, 2016 as follows:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2016
As Reported1 Adjustments As Restated

Revenue $ 464,542 $ (27,374) $ 437,168
Cost of sales 127,353 (5,205) 122,148

Gross profit 337,189 (22,169) 315,020
Operating expenses
Operating and administration expenses 267,117 482 267,599
Depreciation 8,529 — 8,529
Amortization of intangibles 22,490 — 22,490

Total operating expenses 298,136 482 298,618
Operating income 39,053 (22,651) 16,402

Interest expense (income), net 63,755 — 63,755
Loss on debt extinguishment 26,562 — 26,562

(Loss) income from operations before taxes
on income (51,264) (22,651) (73,915)

Income tax provision 341 2,485 2,826
Net (loss) income from continuing
operations (51,605) (25,136) (76,741)
Net (loss) income from discontinued
operations, net of taxes (624) — (624)

Net (loss) income $ (52,229) $ (25,136) $ (77,365)
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (51,581) $ (25,136) $ (76,717)

1 "As Reported" reflects the financial information as presented within the Quarterly Report as of June 30, 2016, issued on August 9, 2016.
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2016
As Reported1 Adjustments As Restated

Revenue $ 731,269 $ (33,271) $ 697,998
Cost of sales 190,292 (7,939) 182,353

Gross profit 540,977 (25,332) 515,645
Operating expenses
Operating and administration expenses 528,163 6,540 534,703
Depreciation 21,325 (550) 20,775
Amortization of intangibles 45,305 — 45,305

Total operating expenses 594,793 5,990 600,783
Operating income (53,816) (31,322) (85,138)

Interest expense (income), net 109,980 1,300 111,280
Loss on debt extinguishment 26,562 — 26,562

(Loss) income from operations before taxes
on income (190,358) (32,622) (222,980)

Income tax provision 127 4,256 4,383
Net (loss) income from continuing
operations (190,485) (36,878) (227,363)
Net (loss) income from discontinued
operations, net of taxes (1,460) — (1,460)

Net (loss) income $ (191,945) $ (36,878) $ (228,823)
Comprehensive (loss) income $ (186,659) $ (36,878) $ (223,537)

1"As Reported" reflects the financial information as presented within the Quarterly Report as of June 30, 2016, issued on August 9, 2016.
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 The table below summarizes the effects of the Restatement on our consolidated balance sheet as of 
December 31, 2016 as follows:

As of December 31, 2016

As Reported1 Adjustments As Restated
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 418,753 $ — $ 418,753
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts
of $14,086 and sales returns of $121,951 at December 31,
2016 265,764 — 265,764
Inventories, net 174,659 — 174,659
Prepaid and other current assets 101,065 664 101,729
Total current assets 960,241 664 960,905
Prepublication costs, net 161,385 — 161,385
Property, plant and equipment, net 96,704 — 96,704
Goodwill 492,115 — 492,115
Other intangible assets, net 741,828 — 741,828
Investments 5,363 — 5,363
Deferred income taxes non-current 11,261 — 11,261
Other non-current assets 107,129 1,385 108,514
Total assets $ 2,576,026 $ 2,049 $ 2,578,075
Liabilities and equity (deficit)
Current liabilities
Accounts payable $ 129,491 $ — $ 129,491
Accrued royalties 117,268 — 117,268
Accrued compensation and contributions to retirement
plans 61,706 (561) 61,145
Deferred revenue 333,534 5,515 339,049
Current portion of long-term debt 15,750 — 15,750
Other current liabilities 121,469 (1,700) 119,769

Total current liabilities 779,218 3,254 782,472
Long-term debt 2,329,506 — 2,329,506
Deferred income taxes 13,899 25,003 38,902
Deferred revenue 512,787 37,493 550,280
Other non-current liabilities 27,003 — 27,003

Total liabilities 3,662,413 65,750 3,728,163
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholder's equity (deficit)

Preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share; 1,000,000
shares authorized, 100,000 issued and 37,500
outstanding as of December 31, 2016 — — —
Common stock, par value $0.01 per share; 100,000,000
shares authorized, 10,606,117 shares issued and
10,567,864 outstanding as of December 31, 2016,
respectively 104 — 104
Additional paid in capital — — —
Treasury stock, 38,253 shares as of December 31, 2016 (6,727) — (6,727)
Accumulated deficit (1,021,927) (63,800) (1,085,727)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (57,837) 99 (57,738)

Total equity (1,086,387) (63,701) (1,150,088)
Total liabilities and equity (deficit) $ 2,576,026 $ 2,049 $ 2,578,075

1 "As Reported" reflects the financial information as presented within the Annual Report as of December 31, 2016, issued on March 21, 2017.
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 The table below summarizes the effects of the Restatement on our consolidated statement of cash flows for 
the six months ended June 30, 2016 as follows:

Six Months Ended June 30, 2016
As Reported1 Adjustments As Restated

Net (loss) income from continuing operations $ (190,485) $ (36,878) $ (227,363)
Net (loss) income from discontinued
operations, net of taxes (1,460) — (1,460)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
provided by operating activities 174,208 2,805 177,013
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net
of the effect of acquisitions (272,409) 34,073 (238,336)

Cash provided by (used for) operating activities (290,146) — (290,146)

Cash (used for) provided by investing activities (49,408) — (49,408)

Cash (used for) provided by financing activities (118,167) — (118,167)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 852 — 852
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (456,869) — (456,869)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the period 553,194 — 553,194
Cash and cash equivalents, ending balance $ 96,325 $ — $ 96,325

1"As Reported" reflects the financial information as presented within the Quarterly Report as of June 30, 2016, issued on August 9, 2016.
 
 The Restatement adjustments had no impact on cash and cash equivalents, segment Billings and an 
immaterial impact to segment Adjusted EBITDA for all periods presented. The Restatement had no impact to cash 
provided by (used for) operating, investing or financing activities on the consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
six months ended June 30, 2016.  Material non cash adjustments within net operating activities relate to the deferred 
tax asset valuation allowance and K-12 deferred revenues associated with print subscription products and free with 
order digital subscription products. In addition, the Restatement resulted in the net (loss) earnings per share from 
continuing operations, basic and diluted, to change from $(4.88) to $(7.27) and from $(18.02) to $(21.60) for the 
three and six months ended June 30, 2016, respectively. 

3. Acquisitions

Redbird

 On September 30, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition of Redbird Advanced Learning, LLC 
("Redbird"), that offers personalized and adaptive math solutions targeted to students in the K-5 grade ranges. The 
aggregate purchase price was $12,000, of which $11,500 was paid in cash on closing subject to a working capital 
adjustment. On April 26, 2017, the working capital adjustment was finalized in the amount of $134. 

 The transaction was accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting. Accordingly, the results of 
operations of Redbird are included in our consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. The 
Company has finalized the valuation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed upon acquisition. Goodwill has 
been assigned to the K-12 segment of the Company.

4. Other Income

 On May 10, 2017, the Company entered into a definitive agreement and consummated the sale of 
substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of the Company’s wholly-owned K-12 Canadian business to 



McGraw-Hill Education, Inc. and subsidiaries
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited; dollars in thousands, unless otherwise indicated)

21

Nelson Education Ltd. (“Nelson”). The aggregate sales price was $7,884, subject to working capital adjustments, of 
which $2,205 was received at closing on June 1, 2017. The remaining $5,679 will be received in six month 
installments beginning November 30, 2017 and ending May 31, 2020. In addition, the Company is entitled to 
receive an earn-out in the event the performance of the divested K-12 Canadian business exceeds certain thresholds 
over a 3 year period as defined in the agreement. As the disposal does not represent a strategic shift that will have a 
major effect on the Company’s operations and financial results, the K-12 Canadian business does not qualify as 
discontinued operations. As a result, the gain on disposal of $5,857 is recognized in other income within the 
consolidated statement of operations.

 In addition, during the three months ended June 30, 2017, the Company recorded a gain of $4,931 within 
other income in the consolidated statement of operations related to the sale of an equity method investment. 

5. Inventories

 Inventories consist of the following:

As of
June 30, 2017 December 31, 2016

Raw materials $ 2,624 $ 1,999
Work-in-progress 1,430 1,805
Finished goods 262,957 235,007

267,011 238,811
Reserves (58,128) (64,152)
Inventories, net $ 208,883 $ 174,659

6. Debt

 Long-term debt consisted of the following:

As of
June 30, 2017 December 31, 2016

MHGE Senior Notes $ 400,000 $ 400,000
Term Loan Facility 1,559,250 1,567,125
Revolving Facility 60,000 —
MHGE PIK Toggle Notes 451,449 500,000
Total long-term debt outstanding 2,470,699 2,467,125
Less: unamortized debt discount (65,267) (69,726)
Less: unamortized deferred financing costs (47,641) (52,143)
Less: current portion of long-term debt (75,750) (15,750)
Long-Term Debt $ 2,282,041 $ 2,329,506

 On May 4, 2016, the Company completed a series of transactions to refinance our then existing 
indebtedness. These transactions included the issuance of $400,000 aggregate principal amount of 7.785% Senior 
Notes due 2024 in a private placement (the “MHGE Senior Notes”) and the execution of a credit agreement for 
$1,925,000 of new senior secured credit facilities (the “Senior Facilities”), consisting of a five-year $350,000 senior 
secured revolving credit facility (the "Revolving Facility"), which was undrawn at closing, and a six-year 
$1,575,000 senior secured term loan credit facility (the "Term Loan Facility"). 

 The proceeds from the issuance of the MHGE Senior Notes and the Senior Facilities together with cash on 
hand were used to (i) repurchase and redeem all of the MHGE Senior Secured Notes, (ii) repay in full all amounts 
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outstanding under our then existing MHGE Term Loan and MHSE Term Loan and terminate all commitments 
thereunder, (iii) terminate all commitments under our then existing MHGE Revolving Facility and MHSE Revolving 
Facility, (v) fund a distribution to the Company’s shareholders and (vi) pay related fees and expenses. We refer to the 
issuance of the MHGE Senior Notes together with the Senior Facilities and the transactions described in this 
paragraph collectively as the “Refinancing”.

 In addition, concurrently with the Refinancing, the Company completed a reorganization such that 
McGraw-Hill School Education Intermediate Holdings, LLC (“MHSE Holdings”) became a direct subsidiary of 
McGraw-Hill Global Education Holdings, LLC ("MHGE").

 The Refinancing was accounted for in accordance with ASC 470 -50, Debt - “Modifications and 
Extinguishments”. As a result, we incurred a loss on extinguishment of debt of $26,562, consisting of a portion of 
the redemption premium paid of $14,456 associated with the MHGE Senior Secured Notes and the write-off of 
unamortized deferred financing fees of $8,686 and original debt discount of $3,420 related to the portion of the debt 
accounted for as an extinguishment. With respect to the portion of the debt accounted for as a modification, the 
Company continued to capitalize $46,211 of the unamortized deferred financing fees and $18,323 of the original 
debt discount. In addition, the Company capitalized $45,547 of the remaining redemption premium paid associated 
with the MHGE Senior Secured Notes which is included within unamortized debt discount.

 Furthermore, we incurred $45,659 of creditor and third-party fees on the MHGE Senior Notes and Senior 
Facilities, of which, $19,956 were capitalized as deferred financing fees, $7,875 were capitalized as debt discount 
and $17,828 were expensed and included within interest expense, net in our consolidated statements of operations 
for the year ended December 31, 2016.

MHGE Senior Notes

 On May 4, 2016, MHGE and McGraw-Hill Global Education Finance, Inc. (together with MHGE, the 
"Issuers") issued $400,000 in principal amount of the MHGE Senior Notes in a private placement. The MHGE 
Senior Notes mature on May 15, 2024 and bear interest at a rate of 7.875% per annum, payable semi-annually in 
arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year, commencing on November 15, 2016.

 As of June 30, 2017, the unamortized debt discount and deferred financing costs was $46,468 and $21,166, 
respectively, which are amortized over the term of the MHGE Senior Notes using the effective interest method.

 The Issuers may redeem the MHGE Senior Notes at their option, in whole or in part, at any time on or after 
May 15, 2019, at certain redemption prices. In addition, prior to May 15, 2019 the Issuers may redeem the MHGE 
Senior Notes at their option, in whole at any time or in part from time to time, at a redemption price equal to 100% 
of the principal amount of the MHGE Senior Notes redeemed, plus a “make-whole” premium and accrued and 
unpaid interest, if any. Notwithstanding the foregoing, from time to time on or prior to May 15, 2019 the Issuers 
may redeem in the aggregate up to 40% of the original aggregate principal amount of the MHGE Senior Notes 
(calculated after giving effect to any issuance of additional notes) in an aggregate amount equal to the net cash 
proceeds of one or more equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 107.875%, plus accrued and unpaid interest, 
if any, so long as at least 50% of the original aggregate principal amount of the MHGE Senior Notes (calculated 
after giving effect to any issuance of additional notes) must remain outstanding after each such redemption.

 The MHGE Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by each of McGraw-Hill Global 
Education Intermediate Holdings, LLC's ("MHGE Holdings") domestic restricted subsidiaries that guarantee the 
Senior Facilities.

 The MHGE Senior Notes contain certain customary negative covenants and events of default. The negative 
covenants limit MHGE Holdings and its restricted subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things: incur additional 
indebtedness or issue certain preferred shares, create liens on certain assets, pay dividends or prepay junior debt, 
make certain loans, acquisitions or investments, materially change its business, engage in transactions with affiliates, 
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conduct asset sales, restrict dividends from subsidiaries, restrict liens, or merge, consolidate, sell or otherwise 
dispose of all or substantially all of MHGE Holdings’ assets.

 The fair value of the MHGE Senior Notes was approximately $388,000 and $403,000 as of June 30, 2017 
and December 31, 2016, respectively. The Company estimates the fair value of  its MHGE Senior Notes based on 
trades in the market. Since the MHGE Senior Notes do not trade on a daily basis in an active market, the fair value 
estimates are based on market observable inputs based on borrowing rates currently available for debt with similar 
terms and average maturities (Level 2). As of June 30, 2017, the remaining contractual life of the MHGE Senior 
Notes is approximately 6.75 years.

Senior Facilities

 On May 4, 2016, MHGE Holdings entered into the Senior Facilities. The Senior Facilities provide for 
senior secured financing of up to $1,925,000, consisting of:

• the Term Loan Facility in an aggregate principal amount of $1,575,000 with a maturity of 6 years; and

• the Revolving Facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $350,000 with a maturity of 5 years, 
including both a letter of credit sub-facility and a swingline loan sub-facility. 

 Borrowings under the Senior Facilities bear interest at a rate equal to a LIBOR or Prime rate plus an 
applicable margin, subject to a 1.00% floor in the case of the Term Loan Facility. As of June 30, 2017, the interest 
rate for the Term Loan Facility was 5%. In addition, the Term Loan Facility was issued at a discount of 0.5%. As of 
June 30, 2017, the unamortized debt discount and deferred financing costs was $16,760 and $22,358, respectively, 
which are amortized over the term of the facility using the effective interest method. 

 As of June 30, 2017, the Company has $60,000 outstanding under the Revolving Facility, of which $35,000 
is subject to an interest rate of LIBOR plus 4.00% and $25,000 is subject to a base rate of 4.25% plus an applicable 
margin of 3.00%. The outstanding amount is included within the current portion of long-term debt within the 
consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2017. In addition, we are required to pay a commitment fee of 0.50% per 
annum to the lenders under the Revolving Facility in respect of the unutilized commitments thereunder.

 The Senior Facilities require scheduled quarterly principal payments on the term loans in amounts equal to 
0.25% of the original principal amount of the term loans commencing with the end of the first full fiscal quarter 
ending after the closing date, with the balance payable at maturity.

 In addition, the Senior Facilities include customary mandatory prepayment requirements based on certain 
events such as asset sales, debt issuances and defined levels of excess cash flow.

 All obligations under the Senior Facilities are unconditionally guaranteed by each of MHGE Holdings’ 
existing and future direct and indirect material, wholly owned domestic subsidiaries. The obligations are secured by 
substantially all of MHGE Holdings’ assets and those of each subsidiary guarantor, capital stock of the subsidiary 
guarantors and 65% of the voting capital stock of the first-tier foreign subsidiaries that are not subsidiary guarantors, 
in each case subject to exceptions. Such security interests consist of a first priority lien with respect to the collateral.

 Our Revolving Facility includes a springing covenant that requires MHGE Holdings, subject to a testing 
threshold, comply on a quarterly basis with a maximum net first lien senior secured leverage ratio (the ratio of 
consolidated net debt secured by first-priority liens on the collateral to Adjusted EBITDA) of (a) with respect to the 
first, third and fourth fiscal quarters of any year, 4.80 to 1.00 and (b) with respect to the second quarter of any fiscal 
year, 5.25 to 1.00. The testing threshold is satisfied at any time at which the sum of outstanding revolving credit 
facility loans, swingline loans and certain letters of credit exceeds thirty percent (30%) of commitments under the 
revolving credit facility at such time.
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 Adjusted EBITDA reflects EBITDA as defined in the credit agreement governing the Senior Facilities. 
Solely for the purpose of calculating the springing financial covenant, pre-publication investments should be 
excluded from the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA.

 The Senior Facilities contain certain customary affirmative covenants and events of default. The negative 
covenants in the Senior Facilities include, among other things, limitations on MHGE Holdings’ and its subsidiaries’ 
ability to incur additional debt or issue certain preferred shares; create liens on certain assets; make certain loans or 
investments (including acquisitions); pay dividends on or make distributions in respect of capital stock or make 
other restricted payments; consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of their assets; sell 
assets; enter into certain transactions with affiliates; enter into sale-leaseback transactions; change their lines of 
business; restrict dividends from their subsidiaries or restrict liens; change their fiscal year; and modify the terms of 
certain debt or organizational agreements.

 The fair value of the Term Loan Facility was approximately $1,539,250 and $1,567,125 as of June 30, 2017 
and December 31, 2016, respectively. The Company estimates the fair value of  its Term Loan Facility based on 
trades in the market. Since the Term Loan Facility do not trade on a daily basis in an active market, the fair value 
estimates are based on market observable inputs based on borrowing rates currently available for debt with similar 
terms and average maturities (Level 2). As of June 30, 2017, the remaining contractual life of the Term Loan Facility 
is approximately 4.75 years.

MHGE PIK Toggle Notes

 On July 17, 2014, MHGE Parent, LLC ("MHGE Parent") and MHGE Parent Finance, Inc. issued $400,000 
aggregate principal amount of the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes in a private placement. The MHGE PIK Toggle Notes 
were issued at a discount of 1%. The net proceeds were used to make a return of capital to the equity holders of 
MHGE Parent and pay certain related transaction costs and expenses.

 On April 6, 2015, additional aggregate principal amount of $100,000 was issued under the same indenture, 
and part of the same series, as the outstanding $400,000 of the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes previously issued by 
MHGE Parent and MHGE Parent Finance, Inc. The proceeds from this private offering were used to make a return 
of capital to the equity holders of MHGE Parent.

 On February 10, 2017, the Board of Directors authorized the Company to purchase and cause cancellation 
of a portion of its indebtedness under its outstanding MHGE PIK Toggle Notes via (a) a dividend of up to $100,000 
by MHGE to MHGE Parent in order to provide MHGE Parent with funds for such purpose and the right for MHGE 
Parent to use up to $100,000 to purchase and cancel such MHGE PIK Toggle Notes and (b) the use by MHE of up to 
$7,000 of its cash on hand to purchase MHGE PIK Toggle Notes and contribute purchased MHGE PIK Toggle 
Notes to MHGE Parent for cancellation.

 On February 15, 2017, MHGE paid $50,000 of the $100,000 authorized dividend, respectively, to MHGE 
Parent in order to provide MHGE Parent with funds to purchase outstanding MHGE PIK Toggle Notes.  The 
remaining $50,000 was paid on April 13, 2017. As of June 30, 2017, MHGE Parent and MHE has repurchased 
MHGE PIK Toggle Notes with a face value of $48,551, all of which has been canceled.

 As of June 30, 2017, the unamortized debt discount and deferred financing costs were $2,039 and $4,117, 
respectively, which are amortized over the term of the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes using the effective interest method.

 The MHGE PIK Toggle Notes bear interest at 8.500% for interest paid in cash and 9.250% for in-kind 
interest, “PIK Interest,” by increasing the principal amount of the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes by issuing new notes. 
Interest is payable semi-annually on February 1 and August 1 of each year. The Company paid $21,250 in cash 
interest payments in the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The determination as to whether 
interest is paid in cash or PIK Interest is determined based on restrictions in the credit agreement governing the 
Senior Facilities and in the indenture governing the MHGE Senior Notes for payments to MHGE Parent. PIK 
Interest may be paid either 0%, 50% or 100% of the amount of interest due, dependent on the amount of any 
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restriction. The MHGE PIK Toggle Notes are structurally subordinate to all of the debt of MHGE Holdings and its 
subsidiaries, are not guaranteed by any of MHGE Holdings or its subsidiaries and are a contractual obligation of 
MHGE Parent.

 The MHGE PIK Toggle Notes are unsecured and are not subject to registration rights. 

 The MHGE PIK Toggle Notes contain certain customary affirmative covenants and events of default that 
are similar to those contained in the indenture governing the MHGE Senior Notes. In addition, the negative 
covenants in the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes limit MHGE Parent and its restricted subsidiaries’ ability to, among other 
things: incur additional indebtedness or issue certain preferred shares, create liens on certain assets, pay dividends or 
prepay junior debt, make certain loan, acquisitions or investments, materially change its business, engage into 
transactions with affiliates, conduct asset sales, restrict dividends from subsidiaries or restrict liens, or merge, 
consolidate, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of MHGE Parent’s assets.

 The fair value of the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes was approximately $451,991 and $503,750 as of June 30, 
2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. The Company estimates the fair value of its MHGE PIK Toggle Notes 
based on trades in the market. Since the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes do not trade on a daily basis in an active market, 
the fair value estimates are based on market observable inputs based on borrowing rates currently available for debt 
with similar terms and average maturities (Level 2). As of June 30, 2017, the remaining contractual life of the 
MHGE PIK Toggle Notes is approximately 2.00 years.

MHGE Senior Secured Notes (Refinanced on May 4, 2016)

 The MHGE Senior Secured Notes were issued under an indenture in connection with the Founding 
Acquisition, on March 22, 2013, in a private placement. Interest on the MHGE Senior Secured Notes was 9.75% per 
annum and is payable semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year, with the first payment made 
on October 1, 2013.

 On April 18, 2016, MHGE announced a cash tender offer to purchase up to $800,000 of its MHGE Senior 
Secured Notes. Holders who validly tendered their MHGE Senior Secured Notes before the early tender deadline on 
April 29, 2016 received total consideration equal to $1,076 per $1,000 principal amount of the MHGE Senior 
Secured Notes, plus any accrued and unpaid interest on the MHGE Senior Secured Notes up to, but not including, 
the payment date. On May 4, 2016, MHGE and McGraw-Hill Global Education Finance, Inc. repurchased 
approximately $522,269 aggregate principal amount of the MHGE Senior Secured Notes pursuant to the cash tender 
offer and defeased and discharged the indenture governing the MHGE Senior Secured Notes. MHGE Holdings and 
McGraw-Hill Global Education Finance, Inc. repurchased or redeemed the remaining MHGE Senior Secured Notes 
on May 4, 2016. Concurrently with the defeasance and discharge of the indenture, all of the restrictive covenants in 
the indenture were removed and the collateral securing the MHGE Senior Secured Notes was released. 

MHGE Facilities (Refinanced on May 4, 2016)

 MHGE, our wholly owned subsidiary, together with MHGE Holdings, entered into the MHGE Facilities, in 
connection with the Founding Acquisition, on March 22, 2013, that provided senior secured financing of up to 
$1,050,000, consisting of:

• the MHGE Term Loan in an aggregate principal amount of $810,000 with a maturity of six years; and

• the MHGE Revolving Facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $240,000 with a maturity of five 
years, including both a letter of credit sub-facility and a swingline loan sub-facility.

 On May 4, 2015, MHGE Holdings refinanced the MHGE Term Loan in the aggregate principal of 
$679,000. The revised terms reduced the applicable LIBOR margin from 4.75% to 3.75%, subject to a LIBOR floor 
of 1%. The interest rate was 4.75% as of March 31, 2016 for the MHGE Term Loan and there were no outstanding 
borrowings under the MHGE Revolving Facility.
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 On May 4, 2016, MHGE Facilities were repaid in full and all commitments thereunder terminated in 
connection with the Refinancing.

MHSE Revolving Facility (Refinanced on May 4, 2016)

 McGraw-Hill Education School Holdings, LLC ("MHSE") entered into the MHSE Revolving Facility, in 
connection with the Founding Acquisition, on March 22, 2013, with Bank of Montreal, as Administrative Agent and 
the other agents and lenders, as parties thereto, that provided senior secured financing of up to $150,000 based on 
seasonal levels of the collateral base, with a maturity of five years. The interest rate on the borrowings under the 
MHSE Revolving Facility was based on LIBOR, plus an applicable margin. There were no outstanding obligations 
under the MHSE Revolving Facility as of March 31, 2016.

 On May 4, 2016, all commitments under the MHSE Revolving Facility were terminated in connection with 
the Refinancing.

MHSE Term Loan (Refinanced on May 4, 2016)

 On December 18, 2013, MHSE Holdings, MHSE, the Lenders, as parties thereto, and Bank of Montreal as
Administrative Agent entered into a First-Lien Credit Agreement providing for, amongst other things, the extension 
of $250,000 of Term B Loan (the “MHSE Term Loan”) to MHSE.  The interest rate on the borrowings under the 
MHSE Term Loan was based on LIBOR or Prime, plus an applicable margin. The interest rate as of March 31, 2016 
was 6.25% for the MHSE Term Loan, subject to a LIBOR floor of 1.25%.

 On May 4, 2016, the MHSE Term Loan was repaid in full and all commitments thereunder terminated in 
connection with the Refinancing.

Scheduled Principal Payments

The scheduled principal payments required under the terms of the MHGE Senior Notes, Senior Facilities and 
MHGE PIK Toggle Notes were as follows:

As of
June 30, 2017

Remainder of 2017 $ 67,875
2018 15,750
2019 467,199
2020 15,750
2021 15,750
2022 and beyond 1,888,375

2,470,699
Less: Current portion 75,750

$ 2,394,949

7. Interest Rate Swap Agreements

 In the normal course of business, the Company may enter into interest rate swap agreements to manage 
exposure to interest rate risk. Interest rate swap agreements are derivative financial instruments and generally 
involve the conversion of variable-rate debt to fixed-rate debt over the life of the interest rate swap agreement 
without exchange of the underlying notional amount.
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 Interest rate swap agreements which are designated and qualify as a hedge of the exposure to variability in 
expected future cash flows are considered cash flow hedges. The Company prepares written hedge documentation 
for all interest rate swap agreements which are designated as cash flow hedges. The written hedge documentation 
includes identification of, among other items, the risk management objective, hedging instrument, hedged item and 
methodologies for assessing and measuring hedge effectiveness and ineffectiveness, along with support for 
management’s assertion that the hedge will be highly effective. 

 For designated hedging relationships, the Company performs retrospective and prospective effectiveness 
testing to determine whether the hedging relationship has been highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of 
hedged items and whether the relationship is expected to continue to be highly effective in the future. Assessments 
of hedge effectiveness and measurements of hedge ineffectiveness are performed at least quarterly. The effective 
portion of the changes in the fair value of an interest rate swap that is highly effective and that has been designated 
and qualifies as a cash flow hedge are initially recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income and 
reclassified to earnings in the same period that the hedged item impacts earnings or when the hedging relationship is 
terminated. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss, if any, is recognized in earnings. 

 The Company recognizes all interest rate swap agreements as assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at fair 
value and is included with other non-current assets or other non-current liabilities, respectively. Cash flows from 
interest rate swap agreements used to manage interest rate risk are classified as operating activities. We do not use 
derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes.  In addition, we enter into interest rate swap agreements 
with a variety of financial institutions that we believe are creditworthy in order to reduce our concentration of credit 
risk.

 During the first quarter of 2017, the Company entered into interest rate swap agreements with a total 
notional value of $500,000 to convert a portion of its variable-rate debt to a fixed rate. The Company will receive 
payments from the counterparties at one-month LIBOR and make payments to the counterparties at a fixed rate of 
2.07%. The cash flow payments on the interest rate swap agreements begin in April 2017 and terminate April 2022. 
The interest rate swap agreements have been designated as a cash flow hedge. The notional amount and interest 
payment date of the interest rate and interest rate swaps match the principal, interest payment and maturity date of 
the related debt.

 The Company records the fair value of its interest rate swap agreements on a recurring basis using Level 2 
inputs of quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets. The unrealized loss recognized in 
accumulated other comprehensive loss for the three and six months ended June 30, 2017 was $2,620 and $5,405, 
respectively, and is included as other non-current liabilities within the consolidated balance sheet. Ineffectiveness of 
the cash flow hedge was not material for the period presented. 

8. Segment Reporting

 The Company manages and reports its businesses in the following segments:

• Higher Education: Provides instructional content, adaptive learning, assessment and institutional services 
to students, professors, provosts and presidents in the college, university and postgraduate markets in the 
United States and around the world.

• K - 12: Provides instructional and supplemental solutions and services to the PreK-12 market. K-12 offers 
a comprehensive portfolio of educational resources to elementary and secondary schools both in digital and 
print, with a focus on supporting educators and aligning assessment and instruction to improve student 
achievement.

• International: Leverages our global scale, brand recognition and extensive product portfolio to serve 
educational and professional markets around the world. International pursues numerous product models to 
drive growth, ranging from reselling primarily Higher Education and Professional offerings to creating 
locally developed product suites customized for each region.
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• Professional: Provides content and subscription-based information services for the professional business, 
medical, technical and education/test-preparation communities, including for professionals preparing for 
entry into graduate programs.

• Other: Includes certain transactions or adjustments that our CODM considers to be unusual and/or non-
operational.

 The Company’s business segments are consistent with how management views the markets served by the 
Company. The CODM reviews their separate financial information to assess performance and to allocate resources. 
We measure and evaluate our reportable segments based on segment Billings and Adjusted EBITDA and believe 
they provide additional information to management and investors to measure our performance and evaluate our 
ability to service our indebtedness. We include the change in deferred revenue to GAAP revenue to arrive at 
Billings.  Billings is a key metric that we use to manage our business as it reflects the sales activity in a given period 
and provides comparability during this time of digital transition, particularly in the K-12 market, in which our 
customers typically pay for five to eight-year contracts upfront. Furthermore, Billings incorporates the change in 
deferred revenue that is reflected in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA. Therefore when the Company uses a 
margin calculation based on Adjusted EBITDA, the margin has to be based on Billings. We exclude from segment 
Adjusted EBITDA: interest expense (income), net, income tax (benefit) provision, depreciation, amortization and 
pre-publication amortization and certain transactions or adjustments that our CODM does not consider for the 
purposes of making decisions to allocate resources among segments or assessing segment performance. Although we 
exclude these amounts from segment Adjusted EBITDA, they are included in reported consolidated net income 
(loss) and are included in the reconciliation below.

 Billings and Adjusted EBITDA are not presentations made in accordance with U.S. GAAP and the use of 
the terms, Billings and Adjusted EBITDA, varies from others in our industry. Billings and Adjusted EBITDA should 
be considered in addition to, not as a substitute for, revenue and net income (loss), or other measures of performance 
derived in accordance with U.S. GAAP as measures of operating performance or cash flows as measures of liquidity.

 Segment asset disclosure is not used by the CODM as a measure of segment performance since the segment 
evaluation is driven by Billings and Adjusted EBITDA. As such, segment assets are not disclosed in the notes to the 
accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements.

 The following tables set forth information about the Company’s operations by its segments:

As Restated
Three Months Ended 

 June 30, 2017
Three Months Ended 

 June 30, 2016
Billings:

Higher Education $ 96,681 $ 109,065
K - 12 283,531 274,852
International 63,837 65,289
Professional 29,825 31,226
Other 616 242

         Total Billings (1) 474,490 480,674
                   Change in deferred revenue (69,112) (43,506)
         Total Consolidated Revenue $ 405,378 $ 437,168
(1) The elimination of inter-segment revenues was not significant to the revenues of any one segment.
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Adjusted EBITDA:
Higher Education $ (6,805) $ (5,002)
K - 12 99,000 99,504
International 475 (2,030)
Professional 9,242 8,682
Other 3,228 (4,168)

Total Adjusted EBITDA $ 105,140 $ 96,986

As Restated
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2017
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2016
Billings:

Higher Education $ 227,418 $ 236,361
K - 12 320,142 321,052
International 105,081 107,803
Professional 50,543 53,274
Other 695 611

         Total Billings (1) 703,879 719,101
                   Change in deferred revenue (17,770) (21,103)
         Total Consolidated Revenue $ 686,109 $ 697,998
(1) The elimination of inter-segment revenues was not significant to the revenues of any one segment.

Adjusted EBITDA:
Higher Education $ 4,943 $ 1,660
K - 12 13,296 25,577
International (15,415) (10,182)
Professional 9,002 7,214
Other 404 (8,294)

Total Adjusted EBITDA $ 12,230 $ 15,975
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 Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to the consolidated statements of operations is as follows:

As Restated
Three Months Ended 

 June 30, 2017
Three Months Ended 

 June 30, 2016
Total Adjusted EBITDA $ 105,140 $ 96,986
Interest (expense) income, net (44,106) (63,755)
Benefit (provision) for taxes on income (5,753) (2,826)
Depreciation, amortization and pre-publication amortization (57,407) (50,095)
Change in deferred revenue (69,112) (43,506)
Change in deferred royalties 11,781 5,205
Restructuring and cost savings implementation charges (3,728) (3,307)
Sponsor fees (875) (875)
Loss on extinguishment of debt — (26,562)
Other 3,010 (6,148)
Pre-publication investment 23,996 18,142
Net (loss) income from continuing operations (37,054) (76,741)
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations, net of taxes 19 (624)
Net (loss) income $ (37,035) $ (77,365)

As Restated
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2017
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2016
Total Adjusted EBITDA $ 12,230 $ 15,975
Interest (expense) income, net (87,340) (111,280)
Benefit (provision) for taxes on income (6,377) (4,383)
Depreciation, amortization and pre-publication amortization (106,840) (97,901)
Change in deferred revenue (17,770) (21,103)
Change in deferred royalties 6,008 4,864
Restructuring and cost savings implementation charges (5,894) (6,640)
Sponsor fees (1,750) (1,750)
Loss on extinguishment of debt — (26,562)
Other (1,886) (9,683)
Pre-publication investment 49,065 31,100
Net (loss) income from continuing operations (160,554) (227,363)
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations, net of taxes (480) (1,460)
Net (loss) income $ (161,034) $ (228,823)
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 The following is a schedule of revenue and long-lived assets by geographic region:

Revenue (1)
As Restated As Restated

Three Months Ended 
 June 30, 2017

Three Months Ended 
 June 30, 2016

Six Months Ended 
 June 30, 2017

Six Months Ended 
 June 30, 2016

United States $ 339,358 $ 371,079 $ 575,679 $ 589,257
International 66,020 66,089 110,430 108,741
Total $ 405,378 $ 437,168 $ 686,109 $ 697,998

Long-lived Assets (2)
As Restated

As of
June 30, 2017 December 31, 2016

United States $ 339,940 $ 310,547
International 45,212 42,516
Total $ 385,152 $ 353,063

(1) Revenues are attributed to a geographic region based on the location of customer.
(2) Reflects total assets less current assets, goodwill, intangible assets, investments, deferred financing costs 

and non-current deferred tax assets.

9. Taxes on Income

 For the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the effective tax rate on continuing operations was 
(16.1)% and (3.8)%, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the effective tax rate on 
continuing operations was (4.1)% and (2.0)%, respectively. Beginning with December 31, 2014, a full valuation 
allowance was recorded for federal and state deferred tax assets due to negative evidence of cumulative book 
losses. For the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, no deferred income tax benefit was recognized for the 
domestic loss on operations as a result of the valuation allowance against these tax benefits. 

 At the end of each interim period, we estimate the annual effective tax rate and apply that rate to our 
ordinary quarterly earnings. The tax expense or benefit related to significant, unusual or extraordinary items that will 
be separately reported or reported net of their related tax effect that are individually computed, are recognized in the 
interim period in which those items occur. In addition, the effect of changes in enacted tax laws or rates or tax status 
is recognized in the interim period in which the change occurs. 

10. Employee Benefits

 A majority of the Company’s employees are participants in voluntary 401(k) plans sponsored by the 
Company under which the Company matches employee contributions up to certain levels of compensation.

11. Stock-Based Compensation

 The Company issues share based compensation under the Management Equity Plan (the “Plan”) which was 
established during the quarter ended June 30, 2013. The Plan permits the grant of stock options, restricted stock, 
restricted stock units and other equity based awards to the Company’s employees and directors.

 Stock options granted generally vest over three to five years with 50% vesting on cumulative financial 
performance measures under the Plan and the remaining 50% vest in equal installments, over three to five years, in 
each case subject to continued service. Stock options terminate on the earliest of the tenth year from the date of the 
grant or other committee action, as defined under the Plan. Restricted stock and restricted stock units issued during 
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the year ended December 31, 2014 vest on December 31, 2016 subject to the achievement of certain performance 
measures and continued service. In relation to restricted stock and restricted stock units issued during the year ended 
December 31, 2015, 50% vest subject to the achievement of certain performance measures over a three year period 
and the remaining 50% vest on December 31, 2017 and in each instance, are subject to continued service. Restricted 
stock and restricted stock units issued during the year ended December 31, 2016 vest either subject to the 
achievement of certain performance measures and continued service over a three year period, or vest in equal 
installments over a three period subject only to continued service. 

 During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Board of Directors authorized a modification to certain 
unvested stock options and restricted stock units, which converted their vesting requirements from performance 
based grants to service based grants. Due to the modification, the Company will recognize incremental 
compensation expense related to stock options of $7,732, of which $419 was recognized during the year ended 
December 31, 2016. The remaining $7,313 of compensation expense will be recognized over generally the next 
three years. The modification of the restricted stock units will not have a material impact on the Company's 
statement of operations.

 The Company measures compensation cost for share based awards according to the equity method. In 
accordance with the expense recognition provisions of those standards, the Company amortizes unearned 
compensation associated with share based awards on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the option or 
award.

 The following table sets forth the total recognized compensation expense related to stock option grants and 
restricted stock and restricted stock units issuances for all periods presented:

Three Months Ended 
 June 30, 2017

Three Months Ended 
 June 30, 2016

Six Months Ended 
 June 30, 2017

Six Months Ended 
 June 30, 2016

Stock option expense $ 2,971 $ 1,680 $ 4,749 $ 4,203
Restricted stock and unit
awards expense 1,872 1,709 3,699 2,973
Total stock-based
compensation expense $ 4,843 $ 3,389 $ 8,448 $ 7,176

 An income tax benefit for stock options and restricted stock units was not recognized for the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 as a result of the Company recording a valuation allowance against these tax 
benefits.

Stock Options

 As of June 30, 2017, there was $29,697 of unrecognized compensation expense related to the Company's 
grant of nonvested stock options. Unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested stock options granted to 
employees is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.4 years.

Restricted stock and restricted stock units

 As of June 30, 2017, there was $5,865 of unrecognized compensation expense related to the Company's 
grant of nonvested restricted shares and restricted stock units to employees. Unrecognized compensation expense 
related to nonvested restricted shares and restricted stock units granted to employees is expected to be recognized 
over a weighted-average period of 1.3 years.

12. Earnings (Loss) per Share

 Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number 
of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by 
the weighted-average number of common stock outstanding, including all potentially dilutive common stock.
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 The following table sets forth reconciliations of the numerators and denominators used to compute basic 
and diluted earnings per share of common stock for all periods presented:

As Restated As Restated
(in thousands, except
per share data)

Three Months Ended 
 June 30, 2017

Three Months Ended 
 June 30, 2016

Six Months Ended 
 June 30, 2017

Six Months Ended 
 June 30, 2016

Numerator:
(Loss) income from
continuing operations $ (37,054) $ (76,741) $ (160,554) $ (227,363)
(Loss) income from
discontinued operations,
net of taxes 19 (624) (480) (1,460)
Net (loss) income
attributable to McGraw-
Hill Education, Inc. $ (37,035) $ (77,365) $ (161,034) $ (228,823)

Denominator: 
Basic weighted - average
number of shares
outstanding 10,570 10,550 10,573 10,525
Effect of dilutive
securities — — — —
Diluted weighted-average
number of shares
outstanding 10,570 10,550 10,573 10,525

Basic and Dilutive EPS:
(Loss) income from
continuing operations $ (3.51) $ (7.27) $ (15.19) $ (21.60)
(Loss) income from
discontinued operations,
net of taxes — (0.06) (0.05) (0.14)
Net (loss) income
attributable to McGraw-
Hill Education, Inc. (3.50) (7.33) (15.23) (21.74)

 The number of anti-dilutive shares that have been excluded in the computation of diluted earnings per share 
for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was 278 and 386, respectively. The number of anti-dilutive 
shares that have been excluded in the computation of diluted earnings per share for the six months ended June 30, 
2017 and 2016 was 289 and 390, respectively.

13. Restructuring

 We have initiated various restructuring plans over the last several years.  The charges for each restructuring 
plan, except those included within Other, are classified as operating and administration expenses within the 
consolidated statements of operations. The restructuring charges included within Other are classified within net 
(loss) income from discontinued operations, net of taxes.

 In certain circumstances, reserves are no longer needed because of efficiencies in carrying out the plans, or 
because employees previously identified for separation resigned from the Company and did not receive severance or 
were reassigned due to circumstances not foreseen when the original plans were initiated. In these cases, we reverse 
reserves through the consolidated statements of operations when it is determined they are no longer needed.
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 The following table summarizes restructuring information by reporting segment:

Higher
Education K-12 International Professional Other Total

As of
December 31, 2016 $ 9,461 $ 488 $ 4,922 $ 105 $ 2,818 $ 17,794
Charges:
Employee severance
and other personal
benefits 1,207 1,029 — — — 2,236
Payments:
Employee severance
and other personal
benefits (6,413) (455) (3,501) (60) (1,436) (11,865)
As of June 30, 2017 $ 4,255 $ 1,062 $ 1,421 $ 45 $ 1,382 $ 8,165

 The Company expects to utilize the remaining reserves of $6,209, $1,937 and $19 in 2017, 2018 and 2019, 
respectively.

14. Transactions with Sponsors

Founding Transactions Fee Agreement

 In connection with the Founding Acquisition, Apollo Global Securities, LLC (the “Service Provider”) 
entered into a transaction fee agreement with MHE US Holdings, LLC and AcquisitionCo (the “Founding 
Transactions Fee Agreement”) relating to the provision of certain structuring, financial, investment banking and 
other similar advisory services by the Service Provider to AcquisitionCo, its direct and indirect divisions and 
subsidiaries, parent entities or controlled affiliates (collectively, the “Company Group”) in connection with the 
Founding Acquisition and future transactions. The Company paid the Service Provider a one-time transaction fee of 
$25,000 in the aggregate in exchange for services rendered in connection with structuring the Founding Acquisition, 
arranging the financing and performing other services in connection with the Founding Acquisition. Subject to the 
terms and conditions of the Founding Transactions Fee Agreement, an additional transaction fee equal to 1% of the 
aggregate enterprise value is payable in connection with any merger, acquisition, disposition, recapitalization, 
divestiture, sale of assets, joint venture, issuance of  securities (whether equity, equity-linked, debt or otherwise), 
financing or any similar transaction effected by a member of the Company Group. 

Management Fee Agreement

 In connection with the Founding Acquisition, Apollo Management VII, L.P. (the “Advisor”) entered into a 
management fee agreement with MHE US Holdings, LLC and AcquisitionCo (the “Management Fee Agreement”) 
relating to the provision of certain management consulting and advisory services to the members of the Company 
Group. In exchange for the provision of such services, the Advisor will receive a non-refundable annual 
management fee of $3,500 in the aggregate. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Management Fee Agreement, 
upon a change of control or an initial public offering (“IPO”) of a member of the Company Group, the Advisor may 
elect to receive a lump sum payment in lieu of future management fees payable to them under the Management Fee 
Agreement. For the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Company recorded an expense of $875 for 
management fees, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Company recorded an 
expense of $1,750 for management fees, respectively.
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15. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Matters

 In the normal course of business both in the United States and abroad, the Company is a defendant in 
various lawsuits and legal proceedings which may result in adverse judgments, damages, fines or penalties and is 
subject to inquiries and investigations by various governmental and regulatory agencies concerning compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations. In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of legal matters, we 
cannot state with confidence what the timing, eventual outcome, or eventual judgment, damages, fines, penalties or 
other impact of these pending matters will be. We believe, based on our current knowledge, that the outcome of the 
legal actions, proceedings and investigations currently pending should not have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s financial condition.

16. Related Party Transactions

 In the normal course of business, the Company has transactions with its wholly owned consolidated 
subsidiaries and affiliated entities.

Dividends to Common Stockholders

 On May 4, 2016, MHE returned $300,000 or $28.45 per share to the shareholders of the Company from the 
proceeds received from the Refinancing and cash on hand.

Leader's Quest Ltd

 Leader’s Quest Ltd (“Quest”) is a UK-based non-profit enterprise at which Lindsay Levin is the founder 
and managing partner. Ms. Levin is the spouse of David Levin, who serves as our President and Chief Executive 
Officer. During 2016 and 2015, the Company entered into an agreement which Quest will provide leadership 
workshops and other leadership training for members of the Company’s leadership team. For the three months ended 
June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Company paid Quest $27 and $54, respectively, in connection with the agreements. For 
the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the Company paid Quest $63 and $72, respectively, in connection 
with the agreements. 

Presidio

 The Company entered into a master lease agreement with Presidio Technology Capital, LLC ("Presidio 
Technology"), a portfolio company of the Sponsors, primarily for the lease of computer equipment and software. For 
the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 the Company paid Presidio Technology $649 and $258, 
respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 the Company paid Presidio Technology $797 and 
$1,017, respectively. 

 In addition, the Company purchases technology equipment from Presidio Networked Solutions ("Presidio 
Networked"), a portfolio company of the Sponsors. For the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 the 
Company paid Presidio Networked $400 and $643, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 
the Company paid Presidio Networked $1,229 and $2,356, respectively.

Knovation

 Knovation is a privately owned education company that delivers personalized learning solutions to its 
customers.  The Company's K-12 President is a non-controlling shareholder in Knovation. During 2016, the 
Company entered into a collaboration agreement with Knovation which provides Engrade users access to the 
Knovation Content Collection online learning resources. The Company paid Knovation $250 during the year ended 
December 31, 2016 to cover usage of Knovation's online resources through June 30, 2017.
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University of Phoenix

 University of Phoenix is owned by Apollo Education Group, which was acquired by the Sponsors and 
certain co-investors in February 2017. Peter Cohen, the Company’s former Executive Vice President, is the Chief 
Executive Officer of University of Phoenix. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2017, the Company’s sales 
to University of Phoenix totaled $871.

17. Subsequent Events

 On August 1, 2017, MHGE Parent paid $19,187 relating to the interest payment due on the MHGE PIK 
Toggle Notes.

 As of September 28, 2017, $60,000 is outstanding under the Revolving Facility which is subject to a base 
rate of 4.25% plus an applicable margin of 3.00%.
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Item 2.  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS 
OF OPERATIONS

 The following discussion provides a narrative of our results of operations and financial condition for the 
three and six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. You should read the following discussion of our results of 
operations and financial condition in conjunction with the accompanying unaudited financial statements and notes 
thereto, appearing elsewhere in this document.

Company Overview

 We are a leading provider of outcome-focused learning solutions, delivering both curated content and 
digital learning tools and platforms to the students in the classrooms of approximately 250,000 higher education 
instructors, 13,000 pre-kindergarten through 12th grade (“K-12”) school districts and a wide variety of academic 
institutions, professionals and companies in 140 countries. We have evolved our business from a printcentric 
producer of textbooks and instructional materials to a leader in the development of digital content and technology-
enabled adaptive learning solutions that are delivered anywhere, anytime. We believe we have established a 
reputation as an industry leader in the delivery of innovative educational content and methodologies.

 As learners and educators have become increasingly outcome-focused in their search for more effective 
learning solutions, we have embraced adaptive learning tools as a central feature of our digital learning solutions. 
Adaptive learning is based on educational theory and cognitive science that emphasizes personalized delivery of 
concepts, continuous assessment of gained and retained knowledge and skills, and design of targeted and 
personalized study paths that help students improve in their areas of weakness while retaining competencies. We 
have developed a unique set of digital solutions by combining innovative adaptive learning methods with our 
proprietary content and digital delivery platforms. These solutions provide immediate feedback, and we believe they 
are more effective than traditional print textbooks in driving positive student outcomes. Students’ year-over-year 
performance can be impacted by many factors outside the instructional materials used in class. We believe that even 
taking into account these factors, our learning solutions can contribute to significant improvements in students’ 
classroom performance as well as improved student retention. For the instructor, time spent on active learning 
experiences increases significantly as a result of a reduction in time spent on administrative tasks and the availability 
of critical data to help better focus in class instruction.

Business Segments 

 We have four operating business segments: Higher Education, K-12, International and Professional. Higher 
Education is our largest segment, representing 42%, 44% and 46% of total revenue for the years ended 
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Our K-12 segment generated 35%, 32% and 30% of total revenue 
for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Our International segment generated 16%, 
17% and 18% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Our 
Professional segment represents 7%, 7% and 6% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 
2014, respectively. The remaining total revenue relates to adjustments made for in-transit product sales. 

Higher Education 

 In the higher education market in the United States, we provide students, instructors and institutions with 
adaptive digital learning tools, digital platforms, custom publishing solutions and traditional printed textbook 
products with capabilities in adaptive learning, homework tools, lecture capture and Learning Management System 
(“LMS”) integration for post-secondary markets. Although we cover all major academic disciplines, our content 
portfolio is organized into three key disciplines: (i) Business, Economics & Career; (ii) Science, Engineering & 
Math; and (iii) Humanities, Social Science & Languages. Our top selling products include Economics: Principles, 
Problems, and Policies (McConnell/Brue/Flynn), ALEKS, Managerial Accounting (Garrison) and The Art of Public 
Speaking (Lucas). The primary users of our solutions are students enrolled in two- and four-year non-profit colleges 
and universities, and to a much lesser extent, for-profit institutions.
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 We sell our Higher Education solutions to well-known online retailers, distribution partners and college 
bookstores, who subsequently sell to students. Our own direct-to-student sales channel is increasing via our 
proprietary e-commerce platform, which currently represents the largest distribution channel in this segment. 
Although we sell our products to the students as end users, it is the instructor that makes the ultimate decision 
regarding new materials for the course. We have longstanding and exclusive relationships with many authors and 
nearly all of our products are covered by copyright in major markets, providing us the exclusive right to produce and 
distribute such content in those markets during the applicable copyright terms. 

K-12 

 In the K-12 market in the United States, we primarily sell curriculum and learning solutions, which include 
core basal programs, intervention and supplemental products, formative assessment tools, teaching resources and 
professional development programs. We sell our learning solutions directly to school districts across the United 
States. The process through which products are selected and procured for classroom use varies throughout the 
United States. Eighteen states, known as adoption states, approve and procure new basal programs, usually every 
five to eight years on a state-wide basis for each major area of study, before individual schools or school districts are 
permitted to schedule the purchase of materials. In all remaining states, known as open territories, each individual 
school or school district can procure materials at any time, though they usually do so on a five to eight year cycle. 
The student population in adoption states represents nearly 50% of the U.S. elementary and secondary school-age 
population. Many adoption states provide “categorical funding” for instructional materials, which means that state 
funds cannot be used for any other purpose. While we offer all of our curriculum and learning solutions in digital 
format, given the varying degrees of availability and maturity of our customers’ technological infrastructure, a 
majority of our sales are derived from blended print and digital solutions. Our top selling programs are Reading 
Wonders, McGraw-Hill My Math, Everyday Mathematics, Glencoe Math, and the Networks Social Studies Series.

 
International 

 Our International segment, defined as sales outside the United States, serves students in the higher 
education, K-12 and professional markets in 140 countries. Our products and solutions for the International segment 
are produced in more than 60 languages and primarily originate from our offerings for the United States market, 
which are later adapted to meet the needs of individual geographies. Sales of our digital offerings are growing 
significantly in the international market, and we are continuously increasing our inventory of digital programs. The 
growth in the use of the English language is also a driver of demand for digital learning solutions and printed 
educational instructional materials. 

Professional 

 In the professional market in the United States, we provide medical, technical, engineering and business 
content for the professional, education and test preparation communities. Our digital subscription products are sold 
to over 2,600 customers including corporations, academic institutions, libraries and hospitals. Our digital 
subscription products had a 93% annual retention rate in 2016. 

Other 

 Other represents certain transactions or adjustments that are unusual or non-operational. In addition, 
adjustments made for in-transit product sales, timing related corporate cost allocations and other costs not attributed 
to a single operating segment are recorded within Other.

Consolidated Operating Results

The following tables set forth certain unaudited consolidated financial information for the three and six 
months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016. The following tables and discussion should be read in conjunction with the 
information contained in our unaudited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto which are included 
elsewhere in this document.
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Consolidated Operating Results for the Three Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

As Restated

(Dollars in thousands)
Three Months Ended 

 June 30, 2017
Three Months Ended 

 June 30, 2016 $ Change % Change
Revenue $ 405,378 $ 437,168 $ (31,790) (7.3 )%
Cost of sales 105,563 122,148 (16,585) (13.6 )%

Gross profit 299,815 315,020 (15,205) (4.8 )%
Operating expenses
Operating and administration expenses 266,725 267,599 (874) (0.3 )%
Depreciation 10,756 8,529 2,227 26.1 %
Amortization of intangibles 22,417 22,490 (73) (0.3 )%

Total operating expenses 299,898 298,618 1,280 0.4 %
Operating income (83) 16,402 (16,485) (100.5 )%

Interest expense (income), net 44,106 63,755 (19,649) (30.8 )%
Loss on debt extinguishment — 26,562 (26,562) (100.0 )%
Other (income) (12,888) — (12,888) n/m

Income from operations before taxes
on income (31,301) (73,915) 42,614 (57.7 )%

Income tax provision 5,753 2,826 2,927 103.6 %
Net income from continuing operations (37,054) (76,741) 39,687 (51.7 )%
Net (loss) income from discontinuing
operations, net of taxes 19 (624) 643 (103.0 )%

Net income $ (37,035) $ (77,365) $ 40,330 (52.1)%

Revenue

As Restated

Three Months Ended 
 June 30, 2017

Three Months Ended 
 June 30, 2016 $ Change % Change

Reported Revenue by segment:
Higher Education $ 122,548 $ 142,142 $ (19,594) (13.8 )%
K-12 206,752 203,515 3,237 1.6 %
International 66,020 66,089 (69) (0.1 )%
Professional 26,870 28,995 (2,125) (7.3 )%
Other (16,812) (3,573) (13,239) 370.5 %
Total Reported Revenue $ 405,378 $ 437,168 $ (31,790) (7.3)%

Revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $405.4 million and $437.2 million, 
respectively, a decrease of $31.8 million or 7.3%. Excluding the impact of purchase accounting (which negatively 
impacted revenue as a result of the adjustment recorded to reduce the carrying value of deferred revenue on the 
opening balance sheet), revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $407.9 million and $442.4 
million, respectively, a decrease of $34.5 million or 7.8%. The decrease was driven by the segment factors described 
below.
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Higher Education 

Higher Education revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $122.5 million and $142.1 
million, respectively, a decrease of $19.6 million or 13.8%. The decrease was primarily due to: 

• lower print revenues due to distribution partners continuing to order closer to the start of a given 
semester, which has the impact of shifting sales between quarters, including from late June to July / 
August; partially offset by

• growth in digital back-list learning solution sales; and

• lower product returns reserve rate driven by the ongoing shift to digital learning solutions for which the 
return rate is lower and a continued decline in actual product returns from major distributors as 
inventory destocking abates. 

K-12 

K-12 revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $206.8 million and $203.5 million 
respectively, an increase of $3.2 million or 1.6%. Excluding the impact of purchase accounting, revenue for the three 
months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $209.3 million and $208.7 million, respectively, an increase of $0.5 
million or 0.3%. The increase was primarily due to: 

• new adoption sales growth driven by the K-12 social studies adoption in Florida; partially offset by

• higher net revenue deferrals primarily as a result of product mix as products sold in the current period 
contained a higher digital component; and

• prior period non-recurring new adoption sales, including elementary reading in Utah and lower Open 
Territory math sales.

International 

International revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $66.0 million and $66.1 million, 
respectively, a decrease of $0.1 million or 0.1%. The decrease was primarily due to: 

• a $0.9 million unfavorable foreign exchange rate impact (estimated by re-calculating current period 
results of foreign operations using the average exchange rate from the prior period);  and

• lower print revenue, primarily driven by declines in Latin America, India and the Asia Pacific region due 
to increased competition in these markets; partially offset by

• strong revenue growth, primarily driven by sales in EMEA and Canada.

Professional 

 Professional revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $26.9 million and $29.0 
million, respectively, a decrease of $2.1 million or 7.3%. The decrease was primarily due to: 

• a decline in print and eBook revenue driven by the strategic decision to focus on medical and technical 
publications; partially offset by

• an increase in digital subscription revenue related to our Access platform offerings.
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Cost of Sales 

Cost of sales for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $105.6 million and $122.1 million, 
respectively, a decrease of $16.6 million or 13.6%. The decrease was driven primarily by lower manufacturing costs 
attributable to lower revenue and a lower royalty rate driven by product mix.

Operating and Administration Expenses 

Operating and administration expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 were $266.7 
million and $267.6 million, respectively, a decrease of $0.9 million or 0.3%. Included within operating and 
administration expense is the amortization of pre-publication expenditures which increased by $4.6 million or 
23.6%. The remaining variance was driven primarily by: 

• a decrease in samples expense primarily due to timing of new adoptions as compared to the prior period;

• a decrease in professional fees; and 

• lower technology related expenditures due to operational improvements and contract negotiations.

Depreciation & Amortization of Intangibles 

 Depreciation and amortization expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 were $33.2 
million and $31.0 million, respectively, an increase of $2.2 million or 6.9%. This increase was primarily driven by: 

• an increase in depreciation expense associated with deferred technology projects that were previously in 
development phase in 2016; and

• an increase in depreciation expense associated with capital lease arrangements.

Interest expense, net 

 Interest expense, net, for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $44.1 million and $63.8 
million, respectively, a decrease of $19.6 million or 30.8%. The decrease was related to the Company’s refinancing 
of its debt on May 4, 2016. Refer to Note 6, "Debt," of our unaudited consolidated financial statements included 
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report for further discussion of our debt.

Provision for Taxes on Income 

 Taxes on income from continuing operations for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 were a 
provision of $5.8 million and $2.8 million, respectively. For the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, the 
effective tax rate on continuing operations was (18.4)% and (3.8)%, respectively. Beginning December 31, 2014, a 
full valuation allowance was recorded for federal and state deferred tax assets due to negative evidence of 
cumulative book losses. For the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, no deferred income tax provision was 
recognized for the domestic operating income as a result of the valuation allowance against these tax benefits.

Adjusted EBITDA by Segment for the Three Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

 Adjusted EBITDA by segment, as determined in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification
Topic 280, Segment Reporting, is a measure used by management to assess the performance of our segments. We 
exclude from Adjusted EBITDA by segment: interest expense (income), net, income tax (benefit) provision, 
depreciation, amortization and pre-publication amortization and certain transactions or adjustments that our 
management does not consider for the purposes of making decisions to allocate resources among segments or 
assessing segment performance. In addition, Adjusted EBITDA by segment is calculated in a manner consistent with 
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the definition and meaning of our Adjusted EBITDA non-GAAP debt covenant compliance measure, see “Non-
GAAP Measures” - “Debt Covenant Compliance”.

As Restated

Three Months Ended 
 June 30, 2017

Three Months Ended 
 June 30, 2016 $ Change % Change

Adjusted EBITDA by segment:
Higher Education $ (6,805) $ (5,002) $ (1,803) 36 %
K-12 99,000 99,504 (504) (1)%
International 475 (2,030) 2,505 (123)%
Professional 9,242 8,682 560 6 %
Other 3,228 (4,168) 7,396 (177)%

Higher Education 

Adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $(6.8) million and $(5.0) million, 
respectively, a decrease of $1.8 million or 36.0%. The decrease was due to: 

• the gross profit impact of the $12.4 million unfavorable Billings variance discussed under “Non-GAAP 
Measures-Billings for the Three Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 -Higher Education”; and

• an increase in pre-publication investment cash costs related to spend on new front-list titles; partially 
offset by

• favorable gross margins earned during the period as a result of the ongoing shift to digital learning 
solution sales driving lower manufacturing costs as well as slightly lower royalty expense; and

• lower compensation as well as lower discretionary spending, including professional fees.

K-12 

Adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $99.0 million and $99.5 million, 
respectively, a decrease of $0.5 million or 0.5%. The decrease was due to: 

• an increase in pre-publication investment cash costs in advance of new adoption opportunities; partially 
offset by 

• the gross profit impact of the $8.7 million favorable Billings variance discussed under “Non-GAAP 
Measures-Billings for the Three Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 - K-12”; and

• lower samples expense primarily due to the timing of new adoptions in comparison to the prior period.

International 

Adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $0.5 million and $(2.0) million, 
respectively, an increase of $2.5 million. The increase was due to:

• a $0.6 million favorable foreign exchange rate impact (estimated by re-calculating current period results 
of foreign operations using the average exchange rate from the prior period); and
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• lower pre-publication investment cash costs, including costs associated with the development of 
localized digital offerings related to the new United Arab Emirates contract entered into in 2016; 
partially offset by

• the gross profit impact of the $1.5 million unfavorable Billings variance discussed under “Non-GAAP 
Measures-Billings for the Three Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 - International”.

Professional 

Adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $9.2 million and $8.7 million, 
respectively, an increase of $0.6 million or 6.5%. The increase was due to: 

• lower compensation expense as a result of strategic headcount reductions; partially offset by

• the gross profit impact of the $1.4 million unfavorable Billings variance discussed under “Non-GAAP 
Measures Billings for the Three Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 - Professional”.

Other 

Adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $3.2 million and $(4.2) million, 
respectively, an increase of $7.4 million. The increase was due to: 

• impact of adjustments made for in-transit product sales; and

• timing related corporate expense adjustments.

Consolidated Operating Results for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

As Restated

(Dollars in thousands)
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2017
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2016 $ Change % Change
Revenue $ 686,109 $ 697,998 $ (11,889) (1.7 )%
Cost of sales 172,049 182,353 (10,304) (5.7 )%

Gross profit 514,060 515,645 (1,585) (0.3 )%
Operating expenses
Operating and administration expenses 526,967 534,703 (7,736) (1.4 )%
Depreciation 21,797 20,775 1,022 4.9 %
Amortization of intangibles 45,021 45,305 (284) (0.6 )%

Total operating expenses 593,785 600,783 (6,998) (1.2 )%
Operating (loss) income (79,725) (85,138) 5,413 (6.4 )%

Interest expense (income), net 87,340 111,280 (23,940) (21.5 )%
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 26,562 (26,562) (100.0 )%
Other (income) (12,888) — (12,888) n/m

(Loss) income from operations before
taxes on income (154,177) (222,980) 68,803 (30.9 )%

Income tax (benefit) provision 6,377 4,383 1,994 n/m
Net (loss) income from continuing
operations (160,554) (227,363) 66,809 (29.4 )%
Net (loss) income from discontinuing
operations, net of taxes (480) (1,460) 980 (67.1 )%

Net (loss) income $ (161,034) $ (228,823) $ 67,789 (29.6)%
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Revenue

As Restated

(Dollars in thousands)
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2017
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2016 $ Change % Change
Reported Revenue by segment:
Higher Education $ 268,747 $ 276,065 $ (7,318) (2.7 )%
K-12 269,596 261,160 8,436 3.2 %
International 110,430 108,741 1,689 1.6 %
Professional 53,497 55,578 (2,081) (3.7 )%
Other (16,161) (3,546) (12,615) n/m
Total Reported Revenue $ 686,109 $ 697,998 $ (11,889) (1.7)%

 Revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $686.1 million and $698.0 million, 
respectively, a decrease of $11.9 million or 1.7%. Excluding the impact of purchase accounting (which negatively 
impacted revenue as a result of the adjustment recorded to reduce the carrying value of deferred revenue on the 
opening balance sheet), revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $691.1 million and $708.4 
million, respectively, a decrease of $17.3 million or 2.4%. The decrease was driven by the segment factors described 
below.

Higher Education 

 Higher Education revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $268.7 million and $276.1 
million, respectively, a decrease of $7.3 million or 2.7%. The decrease was primarily due to: 

• lower print revenues due to distribution partners continuing to order closer to the start of a given 
semester, which has the impact of shifting sales between quarters, including from late June to July / 
August; partially offset by

• growth in digital back-list learning solution sales, primarily via our direct-to-student e-commerce 
channel (paid activations of Connect/LearnSmart grew by 8% ); and

• lower product returns reserve rate driven by the ongoing shift to digital learning solutions for which the 
return rate is lower and a continued decline in actual product returns from major distributors as 
inventory destocking abates.

K-12 

 K-12 revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $269.6 million and $261.2 million 
respectively, an increase of $8.4 million or 3.2%. Excluding the impact of purchase accounting, revenue for the six 
months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $274.6 million and $271.6 million, respectively, an increase of $3.0 
million or 1.1%. The increase was primarily due to:

• new adoption sales growth driven by the K-12 social studies adoption in Florida; and

• a slight increase in sales in California despite a difficult prior year comparison given strong performance 
in the first year of the ELA adoption in 2016.

• higher net revenue deferrals primarily as a result of product mix as products sold in the current period 
contained a higher digital component; and

• prior period non-recurring adoption sales, including elementary reading in Utah as well as social studies 
in South Carolina.
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International 

 International revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $110.4 million and $108.7 
million, respectively, an increase of $1.7 million or 1.6%. The increase was primarily due to: 

• strong revenue growth, primarily driven by sales in EMEA and Canada; partially offset by;

• lower print revenue, primarily driven by declines in Latin America, India and the Asia Pacific region due 
to increased competition in these markets; and 

• a $1.4 million unfavorable foreign exchange rate impact (estimated by re-calculating current period 
results of foreign operations using the average exchange rate from the prior period).

Professional 

 Professional revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $53.5 million and $55.6 
million, respectively, a decrease of $2.1 million or 3.7%. The decrease was primarily due to a decline in print and 
eBook revenue.

Cost of Sales 

 Cost of sales for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $172.0 million and $182.4 million, 
respectively, a decrease of $10.3 million or 5.7%. The decrease was driven primarily by lower manufacturing costs 
attributable to lower revenue and a lower royalty rate driven by product mix.

  
Operating and Administration Expenses

 Operating and administration expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 were $527.0 
million and $534.7 million, respectively, a decrease of $7.7 million or 1.4%. Included within operating and 
administration expense is the amortization of pre-publication expenditures which increased by $7.7 million or 
23.7%. The remaining variance was driven by:  

• a decrease in samples expense primarily due to timing of new adoptions as compared to the prior period;

• a decrease in professional fees; and

• lower technology related expenditures due to operational improvements and contract negotiations. 

Depreciation & Amortization of Intangibles 

 Depreciation and amortization expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 were $66.8 
million and $66.1 million, respectively, an increase of $0.7 million or 1.1%. This increase was driven by: 

• an increase in depreciation expense associated with deferred technology projects that were previously in 
the development phase in 2016; and 

• an increase in depreciation expense associated with capital lease arrangements.

Interest expense, net 

 Interest expense, net, for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $87.3 million and $111.3 
million, respectively, a decrease of $23.9 million or 21.5%. The decrease was related to lower interest expense in 
association with the Company’s debt refinancing on May 4, 2016. Refer to Note 6, "Debt," of our consolidated 
financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report for further discussion of our debt.



46

Provision for Taxes on Income 

 Taxes on income from continuing operations for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 were 
provision benefits of  $6.4 million and $4.4 million, respectively. For the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 
2016, the effective tax rate on continuing operations was (4.1)% and (2.0)%, respectively. Beginning December 31, 
2014, a full valuation allowance was recorded for federal and state deferred tax assets due to negative evidence of 
cumulative book losses. For the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, no deferred income tax benefit was 
recognized for the domestic loss on operations as a result of the valuation allowance against these tax benefits.

Adjusted EBITDA by Segment for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016

As Restated

(Dollars in thousands)
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2017
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2016 $ Change % Change
Adjusted EBITDA by segment:
Higher Education $ 4,943 $ 1,660 $ 3,283 197.8 %
K-12 13,296 25,577 (12,281) (48.0)%
International (15,415) (10,182) (5,233) 51.4 %
Professional 9,002 7,214 1,788 24.8 %
Other 404 (8,294) 8,698 (104.9)%

Higher Education 

 Adjusted EBITDA for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $4.9 million and $1.7 million, 
respectively, an increase of $3.3 million or 197.8%. The increase was primarily due to: 

• lower compensation as well as lower discretionary spending, including professional fees; and 

• favorable gross margins earned during the period as a result of the ongoing shift to digital learning 
solution sales driving lower manufacturing costs as well as slightly lower royalty expense; partially 
offset by

• the gross profit impact of the $8.9 million unfavorable Billings variance discussed under “Non-GAAP 
Measures-Billings for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 - Higher Education”; partially 
offset by

• an increase in pre-publication investment cash costs related to spend on new front-list titles.

K-12 

 Adjusted EBITDA for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $13.3 million and $25.6 million, 
respectively, a decrease of $12.3 million or 48.0%. The decrease was due primarily to:

• the gross profit impact of the $0.9 million unfavorable Billings variance discussed under “Non-GAAP 
Measures-Billings for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 - K-12”; and

• an increase in pre-publication investment cash costs in advance of new adoption opportunities; partially 
offset by

• lower samples expense primarily due to the timing of new adoptions as compared to the prior period.
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International 

 Adjusted EBITDA for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $(15.4) million and $(10.2) 
million, respectively, a decrease of $5.2 million or 51.4%. The decrease was primarily due to:

• the gross profit impact of the $2.7 million unfavorable Billings variance discussed under "Non-GAAP 
Measures- Billings for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 - International";

• an increase in pre-publication investment cash costs, including costs associated with the development of 
localized digital offerings related to the new United Arab Emirates contract entered into in 2016; 
partially offset by

• a $1.0 million favorable foreign exchange rate impact (estimated by re-calculating current period results 
of foreign operations using the average exchange rate from the prior period.)

Professional 

 Adjusted EBITDA for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $9.0 million and $7.2 million, 
respectively, a favorable variance of $1.8 million or 24.8%. The variance was due primarily to: 

• lower compensation expense as a result of strategic headcount reductions; and

• lower manufacturing costs and royalty expense driven by product mix as a result of the ongoing shift to 
digital learning solution sales; partially offset by

• the gross profit impact of the $2.7 million unfavorable Billings variance discussed under “Non-GAAP 
Measures-Billings for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 - Professional”.

Other 

 Adjusted EBITDA for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $0.4 million and $(8.3) million, 
respectively, an increase of $8.7 million. The increase was due to: 

• impact of adjustments made for in-transit product sales; and

• timing related corporate expense adjustments.

Non-GAAP Measures

Billings, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA 

 The SEC has adopted rules to regulate the use in filings with the SEC and in public disclosures of “non-
GAAP financial measures,” such as Billings, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA. These measures are derived on the 
basis of methodologies other than in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

 Billings is a non-GAAP performance measure that provides useful information in evaluating our period-to-
period performance because it reflects the total amount of revenue that would have been recognized in a period if we 
recognized all print and digital revenue at the time of sale. We use Billings as a performance measure given that we 
typically collect full payment for our digital and print solutions at the time of sale or shortly thereafter, but recognize 
revenue from digital solutions and multi-year deliverables ratably over the term of our customer contracts. As sales 
of our digital learning solutions have increased, so has the amount of revenue that is deferred in accordance with 
U.S. GAAP. Billings is a key metric we use to manage our business as it reflects the sales activity in a given period, 
provides comparability from period-to-period during this time of digital transition and is the basis for all sales 
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incentive compensation. In the K-12 market where customers typically pay for five to eight year contracts upfront 
and the ongoing costs to service any contractual obligation are limited, the impact of the change in deferred revenue 
is most significant. Billings is U.S. GAAP revenue plus the net change in deferred revenue. 

 EBITDA, a measure used by management to assess operating performance, is defined as net income from 
continuing operations plus net interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization (including amortization of pre-
publication investment cash costs). Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP debt covenant compliance measure that is 
defined in accordance with our debt agreements. Adjusted EBITDA is a material term in our debt agreements and 
provides an understanding of our debt covenant compliance, ability to service our indebtedness and make capital 
allocation decisions in accordance with our debt agreements. 

 Each of the above described measures is not a recognized term under U.S. GAAP and does not purport to 
be an alternative to revenue, income from continuing operations, or any other measure derived in accordance with 
U.S. GAAP as a measure of operating performance, debt covenant compliance or to cash flows from operations as a 
measure of liquidity. Additionally, each such measure is not intended to be a measure of free cash flows available for 
management’s discretionary use, as it does not consider certain cash requirements such as interest payments, tax 
payments and debt service requirements. Such measures have limitations as analytical tools, and you should not 
consider any of such measures in isolation or as substitutes for our results as reported under U.S. GAAP. 
Management compensates for the limitations of using non-GAAP financial measures by using them to supplement 
U.S. GAAP results to provide a more complete understanding of the factors and trends affecting the business than 
U.S. GAAP results alone. Because not all companies use identical calculations, our measures may not be 
comparable to other similarly titled measures of other companies.

 Management believes Adjusted EBITDA is helpful in highlighting trends because Adjusted EBITDA 
excludes the results of certain transactions or adjustments that are non-recurring or non-operational and can differ 
significantly from company to company depending on long-term strategic decisions regarding capital structure, the 
tax rules in the jurisdictions in which companies operate, and capital investments. In addition, Billings and Adjusted 
EBITDA provide more comparability between the historical operating results and operating results that reflect 
purchase accounting and the new capital structure post the Founding Acquisition as well as the digital 
transformation that we are undertaking which requires different accounting treatment for digital and print solutions 
in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
 

 Management believes that the presentation of Adjusted EBITDA, which is defined in accordance with our 
debt agreements, is appropriate to provide additional information to investors about certain material non-cash items 
and about unusual items that we do not expect to continue at the same level in the future as well as other items to 
assess our debt covenant compliance, ability to service our indebtedness and make capital allocation decisions in 
accordance with our debt agreements. 
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Billings for the Three Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 

As Restated

(Dollars in thousands)
Three Months Ended

June 30, 2017
Three Months Ended

June 30, 2016 $ Change % Change
Reported Revenue by segment:

Higher Education $ 122,548 $ 142,142 $ (19,594) (13.8 )%
K-12 206,752 203,515 3,237 1.6 %
International 66,020 66,089 (69) (0.1 )%
Professional 26,870 28,995 (2,125) (7.3 )%
Other (16,812) (3,573) (13,239) 370.5 %

Total Reported Revenue $ 405,378 $ 437,168 $ (31,790) (7.3)%
Change in deferred revenue 69,112 43,506 25,606 58.9 %

Billings $ 474,490 $ 480,674 $ (6,184) (1.3)%

Billings by Segment:
Higher Education $ 96,681 $ 109,065 $ (12,384) (11.4 )%
K-12 283,531 274,852 8,679 3.2 %
International 63,837 65,289 (1,452) (2.2 )%
Professional 29,825 31,226 (1,401) (4.5 )%
Other 616 242 374 154.5 %

Total Billings $ 474,490 $ 480,674 $ (6,184) (1.3)%

Billings for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $474.5 million and $480.7 million, 
respectively, a decrease of $6.2 million or 1.3%. 

These variances were driven by the segment factors described below. 

Higher Education 

Billings for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $96.7 million and $109.1 million, 
respectively, a decrease of $12.4 million or 11.4%. The decrease was due to:

• lower print revenues due to distribution partners continuing to order closer to the start of a given 
semester, which has the impact of shifting sales between quarters, including from late June to July / 
August; partially offset by

• growth in digital back-list learning solution sales; and

• lower product returns reserve rate driven by the ongoing shift to digital learning solutions for which the 
return rate is lower and a continued decline in actual product returns from major distributors as 
inventory destocking abates. 

K-12 

Billings for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $283.5 million and $274.9 million, 
respectively, an increase of $8.7 million or 3.2%. The increase was due to: 

• new adoption sales growth driven by the K-12 social studies adoption in Florida; partially offset by
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• prior period non-recurring new adoption sales, including elementary reading in Utah and lower Open 
Territory math sales. 

International 

Billings for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $63.8 million and $65.3 million, respectively, 
a decrease of $1.5 million or 2.2%. The decrease was due to: 

• a $0.4 million unfavorable foreign exchange rate impact (estimated by re-calculating current period 
results of foreign operations using the average exchange rate from the prior period); and

• lower print revenue, primarily driven by declines in Latin America, India and the Asia Pacific region due 
to increased competition in these markets; partially offset by

• strong revenue growth, primarily driven by sales in EMEA and Canada.

Professional 

Billings for the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $29.8 million and $31.2 million, respectively, 
a decrease of $1.4 million or 4.5%. The decrease was due to: 

• a decline in print and eBook revenue driven by the strategic decision to focus on medical and technical 
publications; partially offset by

• an increase in digital subscription Billings for our Access platform offerings.
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Billings for the Six Months Ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 

As Restated

(Dollars in thousands)
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2017
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2016 $ Change % Change
Reported Revenue by segment:

Higher Education $ 268,747 $ 276,065 $ (7,318) (2.7 )%
K-12 269,596 261,160 8,436 3.2 %
International 110,430 108,741 1,689 1.6 %
Professional 53,497 55,578 (2,081) (3.7 )%
Other (16,161) (3,546) (12,615) n/m

Total Reported Revenue $ 686,109 $ 697,998 $ (11,889) (1.7)%
Change in deferred revenue 17,770 21,103 (3,333) (15.8 )%

Billings $ 703,879 $ 719,101 $ (15,222) (2.1)%

Billings by Segment:
Higher Education $ 227,418 $ 236,361 $ (8,943) (3.8 )%
K-12 320,142 321,052 (910) (0.3 )%
International 105,081 107,803 (2,722) (2.5 )%
Professional 50,543 53,274 (2,731) (5.1 )%
Other 695 611 84 13.7 %

Total Billings $ 703,879 $ 719,101 $ (15,222) (2.1)%

 Billings for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $703.9 million and $719.1 million, 
respectively, a decrease of $15.2 million or 2.1%. 

 These variances were driven by the segment factors described below. 

Higher Education 

 Billings for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $227.4 million and $236.4 million, 
respectively, a decrease of $8.9 million or 3.8%. The decrease was due to: 

• lower print revenues due to distribution partners continuing to order closer to the start of a given 
semester, which has the impact of shifting sales between quarters, including from late June to July / 
August; partially offset by

• growth in digital back-list learning solution sales, primarily via our direct-to-student e-commerce 
channel (paid activations of Connect/LearnSmart grew by 8%); and

• lower product returns reserve rate driven by the ongoing shift to digital learning solutions for which the 
return rate is lower and a continued decline in actual product returns from major distributors as 
inventory destocking abates. 
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K-12 

 Billings for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $320.1 million and $321.1 million, 
respectively, a decrease of $0.9 million or 0.3%. The decrease was primarily due to: 

• prior period non-recurring adoption sales, including elementary reading in Utah as well as social studies 
in South Carolina; partially offset by

• new adoption sales growth driven by the K-12 social studies adoption in Florida; and

• a slight increase in sales in California despite a difficult prior year comparison given strong performance 
in the first year of the ELA adoption in 2016.

International 

 Billings for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $105.1 million and $107.8 million, 
respectively, a decrease of $2.7 million or 2.5%. The decrease was due to: 

• a $0.9 million unfavorable foreign exchange rate impact (estimated by re-calculating current period 
results of foreign operations using the average exchange rate from the prior period); 

• lower print revenue, primarily driven by declines in Latin America, India and the Asia Pacific region due 
to increased competition in these markets; partially offset by

• strong revenue growth, primarily driven by sales in EMEA and Canada.

Professional 

 Billings for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 was $50.5 million and $53.3 million, 
respectively, a decrease of $2.7 million or 5.1%. The decrease was due to: 

• a decline in print and eBook revenue; partially offset by

• growth in digital subscription Billings for our Access platform offerings.

Debt Covenant Compliance 

 Adjusted EBITDA is an important measure because, under our debt agreements, our ability to incur 
additional indebtedness or issue certain preferred shares, make certain types of acquisitions or investments, operate 
our business and make dividends, conduct asset sales or dispose of all or substantially all of our assets, all of which 
will impact our financial performance, is impacted by our Adjusted EBITDA, as our lenders measure our 
performance with a net first lien leverage ratio by comparing our senior secured bank indebtedness to our Adjusted 
EBITDA and a fixed charge coverage ratio, and several of our debt, investment and restricted payment baskets are 
measured using Adjusted EBITDA. 

 The Senior Facilities and the indentures governing the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes and the MHGE Senior 
Notes contain, among other provisions, certain customary covenants regarding indebtedness, payments and 
distributions, mergers and acquisitions, asset sales and affiliate transactions. Capacity for investments, debt, 
distributions and certain prepayments is measured in many instances by a multiple of Adjusted EBITDA. Our 
revolving credit facility requires that MHGE Holdings, after an initial grace period and subject to a testing threshold, 
comply on a quarterly basis with a maximum net first lien senior secured leverage ratio (the ratio of consolidated net 
debt secured by first-priority liens on the collateral to Adjusted EBITDA, as defined in the credit agreement 
governing the Senior Facilities) of (a) with respect to the first, third and fourth fiscal quarters of any year, 4.80 to 
1.00 and (b) with respect to the second quarter of any fiscal year, 5.25 to 1.00. Payment of borrowings under the 
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debt agreements may be accelerated if there is an event of default. Events of default include the failure to pay 
principal and interest when due, a material breach of a representation or warranty, certain non-payments or defaults 
under other indebtedness, covenant defaults, events of bankruptcy and a change of control. Our historical debt 
agreements, including the MHGE Facilities, the MHSE Revolving Facility and the MHSE Term Loan, contained 
similar covenants predicated on the same Adjusted EBITDA measure. Failure to comply with these covenants, 
which are based, in part, upon Adjusted EBITDA could limit our long-term growth prospects by hindering our 
ability to incur future debt or make acquisitions. 

 “Adjusted EBITDA” as defined in our Senior Facilities debt agreements, is net income, adjusted for the 
items summarized in the table below. Adjusted EBITDA is intended to show our unleveraged, pre-tax operating 
results and therefore reflects our financial performance based on operational factors, excluding non-operational or 
non-recurring losses or gains. Adjusted EBITDA is not a presentation made in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and our 
use of the term Adjusted EBITDA varies from others in our industry. This measure should not be considered as an 
alternative to net income (loss) from continuing operations or any other performance measures derived in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA has important limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not 
consider it in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under U.S. GAAP. For example, 
Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect: (a) our cash capital expenditure requirements for the assets being depreciated 
and amortized that may have to be replaced in the future; (b) changes in, or cash requirements for, our working 
capital needs; (c) the significant interest expenses, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal 
payments, on our debt; (d) tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us; (e) management fees 
paid to entities and investment funds affiliated with Apollo Global Management, LLC; (f) one-time expenditures to 
realize the synergies referred to above; or (g) the impact of earnings or charges resulting from matters that we and 
the lenders under our debt agreements may not consider indicative of our ongoing operations. In particular, our 
definition of Adjusted EBITDA allows us to add back certain non-cash and other charges or costs that are deducted 
in calculating net income from continuing operations. However, these are expenses that may recur, vary greatly and 
are difficult to predict. They can represent the effect of long-term strategies as opposed to short-term results. In 
addition, certain of these expenses can represent the reduction of cash that could be used for other corporate 
purposes. 

 Further, although not included in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA below, the measure may at times 
allow us to add estimated cost savings and operating synergies related to operational changes ranging from 
acquisitions or dispositions to restructurings, and/or exclude one-time transition expenditures that we anticipate we 
will need to incur to realize cost savings before such savings have occurred. 
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 The calculation of Adjusted EBITDA in accordance with our debt agreements is presented in the table 
below. The results of such calculation could differ in the future based on the different types of adjustments that may 
be included in such respective calculations at the time. 

As Restated As Restated As Restated
Three Months

Ended 
 June 30, 2017

Three Months
Ended 

 June 30, 2016

Six Months
Ended 

 June 30, 2017

Six Months
Ended 

 June 30, 2016

Year Ended
December 31,

2016
LTM

June 30, 2017

Net income (loss) from
continuing operations $ (37,054) $ (76,741) $ (160,554) $ (227,363) $ (135,102) $ (68,293)

Interest (income) expense, net 44,106 63,755 87,340 111,280 199,506 175,566
Income tax (benefit) provision 5,753 2,826 6,377 4,383 15,117 17,111
Depreciation, amortization and
pre-publication investment
amortization

57,407 50,095 106,840 97,901 202,081 211,020

EBITDA $ 70,212 $ 39,935 $ 40,003 $ (13,799) $ 281,602 $ 335,404
Change in deferred revenue (a) 69,112 43,506 17,770 21,103 172,875 169,542
Change in deferred royalties
(b) (11,781) (5,205) (6,008) (4,864) (17,969) (19,113)

Restructuring and cost savings
implementation charges (c) 3,728 3,307 5,894 6,640 17,080 16,334

Sponsor fees (d) 875 875 1,750 1,750 3,500 3,500
Loss on debt extinguishment
(e) — 26,562 — 26,562 26,562 —

Other (f) (3,010) 6,148 1,886 9,683 28,933 21,136
Pre-publication investment (g) (23,996) (18,142) (49,065) (31,100) (89,695) (107,660)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 105,140 $ 96,986 $ 12,230 $ 15,975 $ 422,888 $ 419,143

(a) We receive cash up-front for most sales but recognize revenue (primarily related to digital sales) over time 
recording a liability for deferred revenue at the time of sale. This adjustment represents the net effect of 
converting deferred revenues to a cash basis assuming the collection of all receivable balances. 

(b) Royalty obligations are generally payable in the period incurred with limited recourse. This adjustment 
represents the net effect of converting deferred royalties to a cash basis assuming the payment of all amounts 
owed in the period incurred.

(c) Represents severance and other expenses associated with headcount reductions and other cost savings initiated 
as part of our formal restructuring initiatives to create a flatter and more agile organization. 

(d) Beginning in 2014, $3.5 million of annual management fees was recorded and payable to Apollo.
(e) This amount represents the write-off of unamortized deferred financing fees, original debt discount and other 

fees and expenses associated with the Company’s refinancing of its existing indebtedness on May 4, 2016.
(f) For the six months ended June 30, 2017 the amount represents (i) non-cash incentive compensation expense 

and (ii) other adjustments required or permitted in calculating covenant compliance under our debt 
agreements.  

For the six months ended June 30, 2016, the amount represents (i) non-cash incentive compensation expense 
and (ii) other adjustments required or permitted in calculating covenant compliance under our debt 
agreements.

(g) Represents the cash cost for pre-publication investment during the period. 

 In addition, the Senior Facilities credit agreement and the indentures governing the MHGE Senior Notes 
and MHGE PIK Toggle Notes, contain a financial covenant that requires the disclosure of a description of the 
quantitative differences from the parent, McGraw Hill Education Inc., (“MHE”) to MHGE and its subsidiaries (for 
the Senior Facilities and MHGE Senior Notes) and from MHE to MHGE Parent, LLC (“MHGE Parent”) and its 
subsidiaries (for the PIK Toggle Notes). 
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 As of June 30, 2017, the material quantitative differences from MHE to MHGE and its subsidiaries relate to 
$58.7 million of cash and cash equivalents, of which $58.4 million was held by MHGE Parent and $0.3 million was 
held by MHE. There were no other material assets or liabilities other than the $445.3 million of MHGE PIK Toggle 
Notes due in 2019 and its related accrued interest of $16.0 million. 

 As of June 30, 2017, the material quantitative differences from MHE to MHGE Parent and its subsidiaries 
relate to $0.3 million of cash and cash equivalents held by MHE. There were no other material assets or liabilities. 

 Furthermore, MHE and MHGE Parent do not generate revenue or conduct, transact or engage in any 
material business or operations other than their direct or indirect ownership of the equity interests in MHGE.

Seasonality and Comparability

 Our revenues, operating profit and operating cash flows are affected by the inherent seasonality of the 
academic calendar. In 2016 we realized approximately 15%, 25%, 37% and 23% of our revenues during the first, 
second, third and fourth quarters, respectively. This seasonality affects operating cash flow from quarter to quarter 
and there are certain months when we operate at a net cash deficit. Changes in our customers’ ordering patterns may 
affect the comparison of our current results to comparable periods in prior years where our customers may shift the 
timing of material orders for any number of reasons, including, but not limited to, changes in academic semester 
start dates or changes to their inventory management practices. 

Quarterly Results of Operations

2015 2016 2017
As Restated As Restated As Restated

Third
Quarter

2015

Fourth
Quarter

2015

First
Quarter

2016

Second
Quarter

2016

Third
Quarter

2016

Fourth
Quarter

2016

First
Quarter

2017

Second
Quarter

2017
Reported revenue by 
segment1:
Higher Education $ 309,896 $ 221,971 $ 133,923 $ 142,142 $ 248,850 $ 208,867 $ 146,199 $ 122,548
K-12 304,073 69,360 57,645 203,515 272,224 69,516 62,844 206,752
International 93,952 92,321 42,652 66,089 88,077 90,109 44,410 66,020
Professional 32,812 33,109 26,583 28,995 30,008 31,044 26,627 26,870
Other 3,954 1,031 27 (3,573) 2,904 430 651 (16,812)
Total Reported Revenue $ 744,687 $ 417,792 $ 260,830 $ 437,168 $ 642,063 $ 399,966 $ 280,731 $ 405,378
Change in deferred
revenue 207,561 (22,481) (22,403) 43,506 190,239 (38,467) (51,342) 69,112
Billings $ 952,248 $ 395,311 $ 238,427 $ 480,674 $ 832,302 $ 361,499 $ 229,389 $ 474,490

Billings by segment1:
Higher Education $ 386,182 $ 194,920 $ 127,296 $ 109,065 $ 326,004 $ 173,258 $ 130,737 $ 96,681
K-12 435,364 66,421 46,200 274,852 382,957 54,464 36,611 283,531
International 100,155 91,205 42,514 65,289 95,170 92,027 41,244 63,837
Professional 30,241 40,721 22,048 31,226 28,133 40,693 20,719 29,825
Other 306 2,044 369 242 38 1,057 78 616
Total Billings $ 952,248 $ 395,311 $ 238,427 $ 480,674 $ 832,302 $ 361,499 $ 229,389 $ 474,490
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2015 2016 2017
As Restated As Restated As Restated

Third
Quarter

2015

Fourth
Quarter

2015

First
Quarter

2016

Second
Quarter

2016

Third
Quarter

2016

Fourth
Quarter

2016

First
Quarter

2017

Second
Quarter

2017
Adjusted EBITDA by 
segment1:
Higher Education $ 234,603 $ 51,592 $ 6,662 $ (5,002) $ 192,451 $ 39,396 $ 11,748 $ (6,805)
K-12 225,590 (86,908) (73,927) 99,504 184,906 (72,115) (85,704) 99,000
International 24,206 12,959 (8,152) (2,030) 17,331 11,862 (15,890) 475
Professional 7,267 16,085 (1,468) 8,682 8,716 17,809 (240) 9,242
Other (1,664) (1,151) (4,126) (4,168) 5,813 744 (2,824) 3,228

1Unaudited consolidated quarterly financial information presented in the table above reflects the Restatement as described in Note 2, 
"Restatement of Previously Issued Consolidated Financial Statements," to the unaudited consolidated financial statements. 

Indebtedness and Liquidity

As of
June 30, 2017 December 31, 2016

Cash and cash equivalents $ 133,366 $ 418,753
Current portion of long-term debt 75,750 15,750
Long-term debt 2,282,041 2,329,506

 Historically, we have generated operating cash flows sufficient to fund our seasonal working capital, capital 
requirements, expenditure and financing requirements. We use our cash generated from operating activities for a 
variety of needs, including among others: working capital requirements, pre-publication investment cash costs, 
capital expenditures and strategic acquisitions. 

 Our operating cash flows are affected by the inherent seasonality of the academic calendar. This seasonality 
also impacts cash flow patterns as investments are typically made in the first half of the year to support the 
significant selling period that occurs in the second half of the year. As a result, our cash flow is typically lower in the 
first half of the fiscal year and higher in the second half of the fiscal year. 

 Going forward, we may need cash to fund operating activities, working capital, pre-publication investment 
cash costs, capital expenditures and strategic investments. Our ability to fund our capital needs will depend on our 
ongoing ability to generate cash from operations and our access to the bank and capital markets. We believe that our 
future cash flow from operations, together with our access to funds on hand and capital markets, will provide 
adequate resources to fund our operating and financing needs for at least the next twelve months. We also expect our 
working capital requirements to be positively impacted by our migration from print products to digital learning 
solutions. 

 If our cash flows from operations are less than we require, we may need to incur debt or issue equity. From 
time to time we may need to access the long-term and short-term capital markets to obtain financing. Although we 
believe we can currently finance our operations on acceptable terms and conditions, our access to, and the 
availability of, financing on acceptable terms and conditions in the future will be affected by many factors, 
including: (i) our credit ratings, (ii) the liquidity of the overall capital markets and (iii) the current state of the 
economy. There can be no assurance that we will continue to have access to the capital markets on terms acceptable 
to us. 
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Cash and cash equivalents

 As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, we had cash and cash equivalents of $418.8 million and $553.2 
million, respectively. The cash held by foreign subsidiaries as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, was $57.4 million 
and $52.7 million. These cash balances held outside the United States will be used to fund international operations 
and to make investments outside of the United States. In the event funds from international operations were needed 
to fund operations in the United States, we would provide for taxes in the United States, if any, on the repatriated 
funds. 

The Refinancing

 On May 4, 2016, MHGE and McGraw-Hill Global Education Finance, Inc. (together with MHGE, the 
“Issuers”) closed their offering of $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 7.875% Senior Notes due 2024 (the 
“Notes”) in a private placement (the “MHGE Senior Notes”). Concurrently with the closing of the MHGE Senior 
Notes, MHGE Holdings entered into $1,925.0 million of new senior secured credit facilities (the “Senior 
Facilities”), consisting of a five-year $350.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility (the "Revolving 
Facility"), which was undrawn at closing, and a six-year $1,575.0 million senior secured term loan credit facility 
(the "Term Loan Facility"). 

 The proceeds from the issuance of the MHGE Senior Notes and the Senior Facilities together with cash on 
hand were used to (i) repurchase and redeem all of the MHGE Senior Secured Notes (ii) repay in full all amounts 
outstanding under our then existing MHGE Term Loan and MHSE Term Loan and terminate all commitments 
thereunder, (iii) terminate all commitments under our then existing MHGE Revolving Facility and MHSE Revolving 
Facility, (v) fund a distribution to the Company’s shareholders and (vi) pay related fees and expenses. We refer to the 
issuance of the MHGE Senior Notes together with the Senior Facilities and the transactions described in this 
paragraph collectively as the “Refinancing”.

 In addition, concurrently with the Refinancing, the Company completed a reorganization such that MHSE 
Holdings became a direct subsidiary of MHGE.

 The Refinancing was accounted for in accordance with ASC 470 -50, Debt - “Modifications and 
Extinguishments”. As a result, we incurred a loss on extinguishment of debt of $26.6 million, consisting of a portion 
of the redemption premium paid of $14.5 million associated with the MHGE Senior Secured Notes and the write-off 
of unamortized deferred financing fees of $8.7 million and original debt discount of $3.4 million related to the 
portion of the debt accounted for as an extinguishment. With respect to the portion of the debt accounted for as a 
modification, the Company continued to capitalize $46.2 million of the unamortized deferred financing fees and 
$18.3 million of the original debt discount. In addition, the Company capitalized $45.5 million of the remaining 
redemption premium paid associated with the MHGE Senior Secured Notes which is included within unamortized 
debt discount. 

 Furthermore, we incurred $45.7 million of creditor and third-party fees on the MHGE Senior Notes and 
Senior Facilities, of which, $20.0 million were capitalized as deferred financing fees, $7.9 million were capitalized 
as debt discount and $17.8 million were expensed and included within interest expense, net in our consolidated 
statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2016.

 The following summarizes the terms of the agreements governing the Company’s debt outstanding as of 
June 30, 2017.
 

MHGE Senior Notes 

 On May 4, 2016, the Issuers issued $400.0 million in principal amount of the MHGE Senior Notes in a 
private placement. The MHGE Senior Notes mature on May 15, 2024 and bear interest at a rate of 7.875% per 
annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each year, commencing on November 15, 
2016.
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 As of June 30, 2017, the unamortized debt discount and deferred financing costs were $46.5 million and 
$21.2 million, respectively, which are amortized over the term of the MHGE Senior Notes using the effective 
interest method.

 The Issuers may redeem the MHGE Senior Notes at their option, in whole or in part, at any time on or after 
May 15, 2019, at certain redemption prices. In addition, prior to May 15, 2019 the Issuers may redeem the MHGE 
Senior Notes at their option, in whole at any time or in part from time to time, at a redemption price equal to 100% 
of the principal amount of the MHGE Senior Notes redeemed, plus a “make-whole” premium and accrued and 
unpaid interest, if any. Notwithstanding the foregoing, from time to time on or prior to May 15, 2019 the Issuers 
may redeem in the aggregate up to 40% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Notes (calculated after 
giving effect to any issuance of additional notes) in an aggregate amount equal to the net cash proceeds of one or 
more equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 107.875%, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, so long as at 
least 50% of the original aggregate principal amount of the Notes (calculated after giving effect to any issuance of 
additional notes) must remain outstanding after each such redemption.

 The MHGE Senior Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by each of MHGE Holdings’ domestic 
restricted subsidiaries that guarantee the Senior Facilities.

 The MHGE Senior Notes contain certain customary negative covenants and events of default. The negative 
covenants limit MHGE Holdings and its restricted subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things: incur additional 
indebtedness or issue certain preferred shares, create liens on certain assets, pay dividends or prepay junior debt, 
make certain loans, acquisitions or investments, materially change its business, engage in transactions with affiliates, 
conduct asset sales, restrict dividends from subsidiaries, restrict liens, or merge, consolidate, sell or otherwise 
dispose of all or substantially all of MHGE Holdings’ assets.

 The fair value of the MHGE Senior Notes was approximately $388.0 million and $403.0 million as of 
June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. The Company estimates the fair value of its MHGE Senior 
Notes based on trades in the market. Since the MHGE Senior Notes do not trade on a daily basis in an active market, 
the fair value estimates are based on market observable inputs based on borrowing rates currently available for debt 
with similar terms and average maturities (Level 2). As of June 30, 2017, the remaining contractual life of the 
MHGE Senior Notes is approximately 6.75 years.

Senior Facilities

 On May 4, 2016, MHGE Holdings entered into the Senior Facilities. The Senior Facilities provide for 
senior secured financing of up to $1,925.0 million, consisting of:

• the Term Loan Facility in an aggregate principal amount of $1,575.0 million with a maturity of 6 years; and

• the Revolving Facility in an aggregate principal amount of up to $350.0 million with a maturity of 5 years, 
including both a letter of credit sub-facility and a swingline loan sub-facility. 

 Borrowings under the Senior Facilities bear interest at a rate equal to a LIBOR or Prime rate plus an 
applicable margin, subject to a 1.00% floor in the case of the Term Loan Facility. As of June 30, 2017, the interest 
rate for the Term Loan Facility was 5.0%. In addition, the Term Loan Facility was issued at a discount of 0.5%. As 
of June 30, 2017, the unamortized debt discount and deferred financing costs was $16.8 million and $22.4 million, 
respectively, which are amortized over the term of the facility using the effective interest method.

 As of June 30, 2017, the Company has $60,000 outstanding under the Revolving Facility, of which $35,000 
is subject to an interest rate of LIBOR plus 4.00% and $25,000 is subject to a base rate of 4.25% plus an applicable 
margin of 3.00%. The outstanding amount is included within the current portion of long-term debt within the 
consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2017. In addition, we are required to pay a commitment fee of 0.50% per 
annum to the lenders under the Revolving Facility in respect of the unutilized commitments thereunder.
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 The Senior Facilities require scheduled quarterly principal payments on the term loans in amounts equal to 
0.25% of the original principal amount of the term loans commencing with the end of the first full fiscal quarter 
ending after the closing date, with the balance payable at maturity.

 In addition, the Senior Facilities include customary mandatory prepayment requirements based on certain 
events such as asset sales, debt issuances and defined levels of excess cash flow.
 All obligations under the Senior Facilities are unconditionally guaranteed by each of MHGE Holdings’ 
existing and future direct and indirect material, wholly owned domestic subsidiaries. The obligations are secured by 
substantially all of MHGE Holdings’ assets and those of each subsidiary guarantor, capital stock of the subsidiary 
guarantors and 65% of the voting capital stock of the first-tier foreign subsidiaries that are not subsidiary guarantors, 
in each case subject to exceptions. Such security interests consist of a first priority lien with respect to the collateral.

 Our Revolving Facility a springing financial covenant that requires MHGE Holdings, subject to a testing 
threshold, comply on a quarterly basis with a maximum net first lien senior secured leverage ratio (the ratio of 
consolidated net debt secured by first-priority liens on the collateral to Adjusted EBITDA) of (a) with respect to the 
first, third and fourth fiscal quarters of any year, 4.80 to 1.00 and (b) with respect to the second quarter of any fiscal 
year, 5.25 to 1.00. The testing threshold are satisfied at any time at which the sum of outstanding revolving credit 
facility loans, swingline loans and certain letters of credit exceeds thirty percent (30%) of commitments under the 
revolving credit facility at such time.

 Adjusted EBITDA reflects EBITDA as defined in the credit agreement governing the Senior Facilities. 
Solely for the purpose of calculating the springing financial covenant, pre-publication investments should be 
excluded from the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA.

 The Senior Facilities contain certain customary affirmative covenants and events of default. The negative 
covenants in the Senior Facilities include, among other things, limitations on MHGE Holdings’ and its subsidiaries’ 
ability to incur additional debt or issue certain preferred shares; create liens on certain assets; make certain loans or 
investments (including acquisitions); pay dividends on or make distributions in respect of capital stock or make 
other restricted payments; consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of their assets; sell 
assets; enter into certain transactions with affiliates; enter into sale-leaseback transactions; change their lines of 
business; restrict dividends from their subsidiaries or restrict liens; change their fiscal year; and modify the terms of 
certain debt or organizational agreements.

 The fair value of the Term Loan Facility was approximately $1,539.3 million and $1,567.1 million as of 
June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. The Company estimates the fair value of  its Term Loan Facility 
based on trades in the market. Since the Term Loan Facility do not trade on a daily basis in an active market, the fair 
value estimates are based on market observable inputs based on borrowing rates currently available for debt with 
similar terms and average maturities (Level 2). As of June 30, 2017, the remaining contractual life of the Term Loan 
Facility is approximately 4.75 years.

MHGE PIK Toggle Notes 

 On July 17, 2014, MHGE Parent and MHGE Parent Finance, Inc. issued $400.0 million aggregate principal 
amount of the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes in a private placement. The MHGE PIK Toggle Notes were issued at a 
discount of 1%. The net proceeds were used to make a return of capital to the equity holders of MHGE Parent and 
pay certain related transaction costs and expenses. 

 On April 6, 2015, additional aggregate principal amount of $100.0 million was issued under the same 
indenture, and part of the same series, as the outstanding $400.0 million of the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes previously 
issued by MHGE Parent and MHGE Parent Finance, Inc. The proceeds from this private offering were used to make 
a return of capital to the equity holders of MHGE Parent. 
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 On February 10, 2017, the Board of Directors authorized the Company to purchase and cause cancellation 
of a portion of its indebtedness under its outstanding MHGE PIK Toggle Notes via (a) a dividend of up to $100.0 
million by MHGE to MHGE Parent in order to provide MHGE Parent with funds for such purpose and the right for 
MHGE Parent to use up to $100.0 million to purchase and cancel such MHGE PIK Toggle Notes and (b) the use by 
MHE of up to $7.0 million of its cash on hand to purchase MHGE PIK Toggle Notes and contribute purchased 
MHGE PIK Toggle Notes to MHGE Parent for cancellation.

 On February 15, 2017, MHGE paid $50.0 million of the $100.0 million authorized dividend, respectively, 
to MHGE Parent in order to provide MHGE Parent with funds to purchase outstanding MHGE PIK Toggle Notes. 
 The remaining $50.0 million was paid on April 13, 2017. As of June 30, 2017, MHGE Parent and MHE has 
repurchased MHGE PIK Toggle Notes with a face value of $48.6 million all of which has been canceled.

 As of June 30, 2017, the unamortized debt discount and deferred financing costs was $2.0 million and $4.1 
million, respectively, which are amortized over the term of the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes using the effective interest 
method.

 The MHGE PIK Toggle Notes bear interest at 8.500% for interest paid in cash and 9.250% for in-kind 
interest, “PIK Interest,” by increasing the principal amount of the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes by issuing new notes. 
Interest is payable semi-annually on February 1 and August 1 of each year. The Company paid $21.3 million in cash 
interest payments in the three months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The determination as to whether 
interest is paid in cash or PIK Interest is determined based on restrictions in the credit agreement governing the 
Senior Facilities and in the indenture governing the MHGE Senior Notes for payments to MHGE Parent. PIK 
Interest may be paid either 0%, 50% or 100% of the amount of interest due, dependent on the amount of any 
restriction. The MHGE PIK Toggle Notes are structurally subordinate to all of the debt of MHGE Holdings and its 
subsidiaries, are not guaranteed by any of MHGE Holdings or its subsidiaries and are a contractual obligation of 
MHGE Parent. 

 The MHGE PIK Toggle Notes are unsecured and are not subject to registration rights. 

 The MHGE PIK Toggle Notes contain certain customary affirmative covenants and events of default that 
are similar to those contained in the indenture governing the MHGE Secured Notes. In addition, the negative 
covenants in the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes limit MHGE Parent and its restricted subsidiaries’ ability to, among other 
things: incur additional indebtedness or issue certain preferred shares, create liens on certain assets, pay dividends or 
prepay junior debt, make certain loan, acquisitions or investments, materially change its business, engage into 
transactions with affiliates, conduct asset sales, restrict dividends from subsidiaries or restrict liens, or merge, 
consolidate, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of MHGE Parent’s assets. 

 The fair value of the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes was approximately $452.0 million and $503.8 million as of 
June 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. The Company estimates the fair value of its MHGE PIK Toggle 
Notes based on trades in the market. Since the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes do not trade on a daily basis in an active 
market, the fair value estimates are based on market observable inputs based on borrowing rates currently available 
for debt with similar terms and average maturities (Level 2). As of June 30, 2017, the remaining contractual life of 
the MHGE PIK Toggle Notes is approximately 2.00 years.
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Scheduled Principal Payments

 The scheduled principal payments required under the terms of the MHGE Senior Notes, Term Loan 
Facility, Revolving Facility and MHGE PIK Toggle Notes were as follows: 

As of
June 30, 2017

Remainder of 2017 $ 67,875
2018 15,750
2019 467,199
2020 15,750
2021 15,750
2022 and beyond 1,888,375

2,470,699
Less: Current portion 75,750

$ 2,394,949

Cash Flows

 Cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities are presented in the following table:

As Restated

(Dollars in thousands)
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2017
Six Months Ended 

 June 30, 2016
Cash flows from operating activities $ (216,391) $ (290,146)
Cash flows from investing activities (63,570) (49,408)
Cash flows from financing activities (7,639) (118,167)

 Net cash flows from operating activities consist of profit after income tax, adjusted for changes in net 
working capital and non-cash items such as depreciation, amortization and write-offs, and provisions. 

Operating Activities 

• Cash flows used for operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 were $216.4 
million and $290.1 million, respectively, a decrease of $73.8 million. The decrease in cash used for 
operating activities was primarily driven by:

 a decrease in the change in accounts payable and accrued expenses driven by the timing of 
payments; and

 lower inventory levels as of June 30, 2017 as compared to June 30, 2016 coupled with the impact 
of inventory investment made during the period ending June 30, 2017 in advance of the multi-year 
California ELA adoption; partially offset by

 an increase in accounts receivable due to the timing of collections.

Investing Activities 

• Cash flows used for investing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 were $63.6 
million and $49.4 million, respectively, an increase of $14.2 million. Cash flows used for investing 
activities increased primarily as a result of an $18.0 million increase in pre-publication costs driven by the 
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timing of K-12 new adoption opportunities and Higher Education investment relating to front-list titles. 
This was partially offset primarily as a result of a $4.9 million gain related to the sale of an equity method 
investment. 

Financing Activities 

• Cash flows used for financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016 were $7.6 million 
and $118.2 million, respectively, a decrease of $110.5 million. Cash flows used for financing activities for 
the six months ended June 30, 2017 was primarily related to the repurchase of $48.1 million of our MHGE 
PIK Toggle Notes which is our highest rate and earliest maturity outstanding debt and a Term Loan Facility 
repayment of $7.9 million. In addition, during 2017, the Company paid $6.5 million in dividend 
equivalents and to repurchase equity. These outflows were partially offset by an increase in borrowings of 
$60.0 million related to our Revolving Facility. The Cash flows used for financing activities for the six 
months ended June 30, 2016 was primarily related to the $300.0 million dividend to common stockholders 
on May 4, 2016, partially offset by a net increase in borrowings of $188.2 million associated with the 
Company's debt refinancing on May 4, 2016. In addition, during 2016, the Company paid $26.8 million in 
dividend equivalents and to repurchase equity.

Capital Expenditures and Pre-publication Expenditures

 Part of our plan for growth and stability includes disciplined capital expenditures and pre-publication 
expenditures. 

 An important component of our cash flow generation is our pre-publication efficiency. We have been 
focused on optimizing our pre-publication expenditures to generate content that can be leveraged across our full 
range of products, maximizing long-term return on investment. Pre-publication expenditures, principally external 
preparation costs, are amortized from the year of publication over their estimated useful lives, one to six years, using 
either an accelerated or straight-line method. The majority of the programs are amortized using an accelerated 
methodology. We periodically evaluate the amortization methods, rates, remaining lives and recoverability of such 
costs. In evaluating recoverability, we consider our current assessment of the market place, industry trends, and the 
projected success of programs. Our pre-publication expenditures were $49.1 million and $31.1 million for the six 
months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

 Capital expenditures include purchases of property, plant and equipment and capitalized technology costs 
that meet certain internal and external criteria. Capital expenditures were $21.6 million and $18.3 million for the six 
months ended June 30, 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

 Our planned capital expenditures and pre-publication expenditures will require, individually and in the 
aggregate, significant capital commitments and, if completed, may result in significant additional revenues. Cash 
needed to finance investments and projects currently in progress, as well as additional investments being pursued, is 
expected to be made available from operating cash flows and our credit facilities. See “Indebtedness and Liquidity” 
for further information. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

 As of June 30, 2017 we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities, such as entities often 
referred to as specific purpose or variable interest entities where we are the primary beneficiary, which would have 
been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or 
limited purposes. As such we are not exposed to any financial liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if we 
had engaged in such relationships. 
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Contractual Obligations

 We typically have various contractual obligations, which are recorded as liabilities in our consolidated 
balance sheets, while other items, such as certain purchase commitments and other executory contracts, are not 
recognized, but are disclosed herein. For example, we are contractually committed to acquire paper and other 
printing services and make certain minimum lease payments for the use of property under operating and capital lease 
agreements. 

 The following table summarizes our significant debt related contractual obligations over the next several 
years that relate to our continuing operations as of June 30, 2017: 

Payments due by Period

Total
Remainder

of 2017 2018-2019 2020-2021
2022 and
beyond

Long-term debt, including current portion (1) $ 2,470,699 $ 67,875 $ 482,949 $ 31,500 $ 1,888,375
Interest on long-term debt (2) 736,186 80,170 315,433 233,688 106,895

(1) Amounts shown include principal on the MHGE Senior Notes, Term Loan Facility, Revolving Facility and 
MHGE PIK Toggle Notes.

(2) Amounts shown include interest on the MHGE Senior Notes, Term Loan Facility, Revolving Facility and 
MHGE PIK Toggle Notes.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

 Critical accounting policies are those that require the Company to make significant judgments, estimates or 
assumptions that affect amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. On an on-going basis, 
we evaluate our estimates and assumptions, including, but not limited to, revenue recognition, allowance for 
doubtful accounts and sales returns, inventories, pre-publication costs, accounting for the impairment of long-lived 
assets (including other intangible assets), goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, stock-based compensation, 
income taxes and contingencies. The Company bases its judgments, estimates and assumptions on current facts, 
historical experience and various other factors that the Company believes to be reasonable and prudent under the 
circumstances. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates. For a complete description of our 
significant accounting policies, see Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this 
prospectus. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Sales Returns 

 The allowance for doubtful accounts and sales returns reserves methodology is based on historical analysis, 
a review of outstanding balances and current conditions. In determining these reserves, we consider, among other 
factors, the financial condition and risk profile of our customers, areas of specific or concentrated risk as well as 
applicable industry trends or market indicators. The allowance for sales returns is a significant estimate, which is 
based on historical rates of return and current market conditions. The provision for sales returns is reflected as a 
reduction to “revenues” in our consolidated statements of operations. Sales returns are charged against the reserve as 
products are returned to inventory. Accounts receivable losses for bad debt are charged against the allowance for 
doubtful accounts when the receivable is determined to be uncollectible. 

Inventories
 
 Inventories, consisting principally of books, are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market 
value. The majority of our inventories relate to finished goods. A significant estimate, the reserve for inventory 
obsolescence, is reflected in operating and administration expenses. In determining this reserve, we consider 
management’s current assessment of the marketplace, industry trends and projected product demand as compared to 
the number of units currently on hand. 
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Pre-publication Costs 

 Pre-publication costs include both the cost of developing educational content and the development of 
assessment solution products. Costs incurred prior to the publication date of a title or release date of a product 
represent activities associated with product development. These may be performed internally or outsourced to 
subject matter specialists and include, but are not limited to, editorial review and fact verification, graphic art design 
and layout and the process of conversion from print to digital media or within various formats of digital media. 

Deferred Technology Costs 

 We capitalize certain software development and website implementation costs. Capitalized costs only 
include incremental, direct costs of materials and services incurred to develop the software after the preliminary 
project stage is completed, funding has been committed and it is probable that the project will be completed and 
used to perform the function intended. Incremental costs are expenditures that are out-of-pocket to us and are not 
part of an allocation or existing expense base. Software development and website implementation costs are expensed 
as incurred during the preliminary project stage. Capitalized costs are amortized from the period the software is 
ready for its intended use over its estimated useful life, three to seven years, using the straight-line method. 
Periodically, we evaluate the amortization methods, remaining lives and recoverability of such costs. Capitalized 
software development and website implementation costs are included in other non-current assets in the consolidated 
balance sheets and are presented net of accumulated amortization. 
 

Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets (Including Other Intangible Assets) 

 We evaluate long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Upon such an occurrence, recoverability of assets to be held 
and used is measured by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to current forecasts of undiscounted future net 
cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its estimated future 
cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized equal to the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset 
exceeds the fair value of the asset. Long-lived assets held for sale are written down to fair value, less cost to sell. 
Fair value is determined based on market evidence, discounted cash flows, appraised values or management’s 
estimates, depending upon the nature of the assets. 

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets 

 Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related costs over the fair value of identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of the 
Company’s acquired brands. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized, but instead are tested 
for impairment annually during the fourth quarter each year, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. We have four reporting units, Higher Education, K-12, 
International and Professional with goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets that are evaluated for impairment.

 We initially perform a qualitative analysis evaluating whether there are events or circumstances that 
provide evidence that it is more likely than not that the fair value of any of our reporting units or indefinite-lived 
intangible assets are less than their carrying amount. If, based on our evaluation we do not believe that it is more 
likely than not that the fair value of any of our reporting units or indefinite-lived intangible assets are less than their 
carrying amount, no quantitative impairment test is performed. Conversely, if the results of our qualitative 
assessment determine that it is more likely than not that the fair value of any of our reporting units or indefinite-
lived intangible assets are less than their respective carrying amounts we perform a two-step quantitative impairment 
test. 

 During the first step, the estimated fair value of the reporting units are compared to their carrying value 
including goodwill and the estimated fair value of the intangible assets is compared to their carrying value. Fair 
values of the reporting units are estimated using the income approach, which incorporates the use of a discounted 
free cash flow analysis, and are corroborated using the market approach, which incorporates the use of revenue and 
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earnings multiples based on market data. The discounted free cash flow analyses are based on the current operating 
budgets and estimated long-term growth projections for each reporting unit. Future cash flows are discounted based 
on a market comparable weighted average cost of capital rate for each reporting unit, adjusted for market and other 
risks where appropriate. Fair values of indefinite-lived intangible assets are estimated using avoided royalty 
discounted free cash flow analyses. Significant judgments inherent in these analyses include the selection of 
appropriate royalty and discount rates and estimating the amount and timing of expected future cash flows. The 
discount rates used in the discounted free cash flow analyses reflect the risks inherent in the expected future cash 
flows generated by the respective intangible assets. The royalty rates used in the discounted free cash flow analyses 
are based upon an estimate of the royalty rates that a market participant would pay to license the Company’s trade 
names and trademarks. 

 If the fair value of the reporting units or indefinite-lived intangible assets are less than their carrying value, 
a second step is performed which compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill or indefinite-lived 
intangible assets to the carrying value. The fair value of the goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets is 
determined based on the difference between the fair value of the reporting unit and the net fair value of the 
identifiable assets and liabilities of the reporting unit or carrying value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset. If the 
implied fair value of the goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets is less than the carrying value, the difference 
is recognized as an impairment charge. Significant judgments inherent in this analysis include estimating the amount 
and timing of future cash flows and the selection of appropriate discount rates, royalty rate and long-term growth 
rate assumptions. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value 
for each reporting unit and indefinite-lived intangible asset and for some of the reporting units and indefinite-lived 
intangible assets could result in an impairment charge, which could be material to our financial position and results 
of operations. 
 The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying value of goodwill by reporting segment: 

 
Higher

Education K-12 International Professional Total
As of December 31, 2014 $ 435,519 $ 24,373 $ 4,089 $ 37,078 $ 501,059
Adjustment to goodwill (13,153) 1,050 — — (12,103)
As of December 31, 2015 $ 422,366 $ 25,423 $ 4,089 $ 37,078 $ 488,956
Adjustment to goodwill (1,685) 4,844 — — 3,159
As of December 31, 2016 $ 420,681 $ 30,267 $ 4,089 $ 37,078 $ 492,115

 Goodwill in the table above includes a $1.7 million and $10.0 million impact from foreign exchange as of 
December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

 The Company issues stock options and other stock-based compensation to eligible employees, directors and 
consultants and accounts for these transactions under the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 
718, Compensation-Stock Compensation. For equity awards, total compensation cost is based on the grant date fair 
value. For liability awards, total compensation cost is based on the fair value of the award on the date the award is 
granted and is remeasured at each reporting date until settlement. For performance-based options issued, the value of 
the instrument is measured at the grant date as the fair value of the common stock and expensed over the vesting 
term when the performance targets are considered probable of being achieved. The Company recognizes stock-based 
compensation expense for all awards, on a straight-line basis, over the service period required to earn the award, 
which is typically the vesting period. 
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Revenue Recognition 

 Revenue is recognized as it is earned when goods are shipped to customers or services are rendered. We 
consider amounts to be earned once evidence of an arrangement has been obtained, services are performed, fees are 
fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. 

 Arrangements with multiple deliverables 

 Revenue relating to products that provide for more than one deliverable is recognized based upon the 
relative fair value to the customer of each deliverable as each deliverable is provided. Revenue relating to 
agreements that provide for more than one service is recognized based upon the relative fair value to the customer of 
each service component as each component is earned. If the fair value to the customer for each service is not 
determinable based on stand-alone selling price, we make our best estimate of the services’ stand-alone selling price 
and recognize revenue as earned as the services are delivered. Because we determine the basis for allocating 
consideration to each deliverable primarily on prices experienced from completed sales, the portion of consideration 
allocated to each deliverable in a multiple deliverable arrangement may increase or decrease depending on the most 
recent selling price of a comparable product or service sold on a stand-alone basis. For example, as the demand for, 
and prevalence of, digital products increases, as new sales occur we may be required to increase the amount of 
consideration allocable to digital products included in multiple deliverable arrangements because the fair value of 
such products or services may increase relative to other products or services bundled in the arrangement. 
Conversely, in the event that demand for our print products decreases, thereby causing us to experience reduced 
prices on our print products, we may be required to allocate less consideration to our print products in our 
arrangements that include multiple deliverables. 

 Subscription-based products
 

 Subscription income is recognized over the related subscription period that the subscription is available and 
is used by the customer. Subscription revenue received or receivable in advance of the delivery of services or 
publications is included in deferred revenue. Incremental costs that are directly related to the subscription revenue 
are deferred and amortized over the subscription period. Included among the underlying assumptions related to our 
estimates that impact the recognition of subscription income is the extent of our responsibility to provide access to 
our subscription-based products, and the extent of complementary support services customers demand to access our 
products. 

 Service arrangements 

 Revenue relating to arrangements that provide for more than one service is recognized based upon the 
relative fair value to the customer of each service component as each component is earned. Such arrangements may 
include digital products bundled with traditional print products, obligations to provide products and services in the 
future at no additional cost, and periodic training pertinent to products and services previously provided. If the fair 
value to the customer for each service is not objectively determinable, we make our best estimate of the services’ 
stand-alone selling price and recognize revenue as earned as the services are delivered.

 
Income Taxes 

 We determine the provision for income taxes using the asset and liability approach. Under this approach, 
deferred income taxes represent the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities. 

 Valuation allowances are established when management determines that it is more likely than not that some 
portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Management evaluates the weight of both positive and 
negative evidence in determining whether a deferred tax asset will be realized. Management will look to a history of 
losses, future reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, taxable income in carryback years, feasibility of tax 
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planning strategies, and estimated future taxable income. The valuation allowance can also be affected by changes in 
tax laws and changes to statutory tax rates. 

 We prepare and file tax returns based on management’s interpretation of tax laws and regulations. As with 
all businesses, our tax returns are subject to examination by various taxing authorities. Such examinations may result 
in future tax assessments based on differences in interpretation of the tax law and regulations. We adjust our 
estimated uncertain tax positions reserves based on audits by and settlements with various taxing authorities as well 
as changes in tax laws, regulations, and interpretations. We recognize interest and penalties on uncertain tax 
positions as part of interest expense and operating expenses, respectively. 

Earnings (Loss) per Share 

 The Company computes net income (loss) per share in accordance with ASC 260, Earnings per Share, 
which requires presentation of both basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) on the face of the income 
statement. Basic EPS is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common shareholders (numerator) by 
the weighted average number of shares outstanding (denominator) during the period. Diluted EPS gives effect to all 
dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period using the treasury stock method and convertible 
preferred stock using the if-converted method. Diluted EPS excludes all dilutive potential shares if their effect is 
anti-dilutive. 

Recent Accounting Standards 

 In May 2017, the the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards 
Update (“ASU”) 2017-09, "Modification Accounting for Share-Based Payment Arrangements", which identifies and 
provides guidance on the types of changes to share-based payment awards that an entity would be required to apply 
modification accounting under ASU 2016-09, Stock Compensation (Topic 718). Specifically, an entity would not 
apply modification accounting if the fair value, vesting conditions and classification of the awards are the same 
immediately before and after the modification. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning after 
December 15, 2017 and should be applied prospectively to awards modified on or after the effective date. The 
Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

 In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, “Statement of Cashflows (Topic 230) Classification of 
Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments.” which clarifies the classification of certain cash receipts and cash 
payments in the statement of cash flows, including debt prepayment or extinguishment costs, settlement of 
contingent consideration arising from a business combination, insurance settlement proceeds, and distributions from 
certain equity method investees. The standard is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after 
December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance 
on its consolidated financial statements.

 In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, “Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718).” 
This standard makes several modifications to Topic 718 related to the accounting for forfeitures, employer tax 
withholding on share-based compensation and the financial statement presentation of excess tax benefits or 
deficiencies. This standard also clarifies the statement of cash flows presentation for certain components of share-
based awards. The standard is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, 
with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-09 during the three months ended March 31, 
2017. As a result, we recognized excess tax benefits of $15.4 million which is recorded as a non-current deferred tax 
asset with a corresponding offsetting full valuation allowance to yield no tax impact. The changes have been applied 
prospectively and prior periods have not been adjusted. No other material changes resulted from the adoption of this 
standard.

 In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases.” This ASU requires that a lessee record an 
operating lease in the balance sheet with a liability to make lease payments and a right-of-use asset representing its 
right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. This standard is effective for annual and interim periods 
beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. Adoption of this standard will be on a modified 
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retrospective approach, which includes a number of optional practical expedients that the Company may elect to 
apply. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

 In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, “Inventory (Topic 330) Related to Simplifying the 
Measurement of Inventory,” that applies to all inventory except that which is measured using last-in, first-out (LIFO) 
or the retail inventory method. Inventory measured using first-in, first-out (FIFO) or average cost is within the scope 
of the new guidance and should be measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable cost of completion, disposal, 
and transportation. Subsequent measurement is unchanged for inventory measured using LIFO of the retail 
inventory method. The amendments are effective for public business entities for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2016, including interim periods within those fiscal years. The new guidance should be applied 
prospectively, and earlier application is permitted as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period. The 
adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

 In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” which 
supersedes most of the current revenue recognition requirements.  The core principle of the new guidance is that an 
entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. New 
disclosures about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with 
customers are also required.Entities must adopt the new guidance using one of two retrospective application 
methods. In 2016, the FASB issued several amendments to the standard, including principal versus agent 
considerations when another party is involved in providing goods or services to a customer, the application of 
identifying performance obligations and licenses of intellectual property. This guidance is effective for annual 
periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 
2018. Early adoption is permitted. 

 In early 2016, the Company established a cross-functional implementation team consisting of 
representatives from all of our business segments.  The implementation efforts consist of analyzing the impact of the 
standard on our revenue streams by reviewing our current accounting policies and practices to identify potential 
differences that would result from applying the requirements of the new standard to our revenue contracts.  The 
Company will transition either using a full retrospective approach or a modified retrospective approach. While the 
Company is currently evaluating the method of adoption and the impact of the new revenue standard, as amended, 
on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures, the Company believes the adoption of the new 
standard will primarily impact its accounting for direct incremental costs of obtaining its customer contracts. The 
new standard requires deferral of certain direct incremental costs with amortization consistent with the pattern of 
transfer of each performance obligation.

 Recently issued FASB accounting standard codification updates, except for the above standards, will not 
have a material to the Company’s unaudited consolidated financial statements for the six months ended June 30, 
2017.

Item 3: QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

Foreign Exchange Risk

 Our exposure to market risk includes changes in foreign exchange rates. We have operations in various 
foreign countries where the functional currency is primarily the local currency. For international operations that are 
determined to be extensions of the parent company, the United States dollar is the functional currency. Our principal 
currency exposures relate to the Australian Dollar, British Pound, Canadian Dollar, Euro, Mexican Peso and 
Singapore Dollar. From time to time, we may enter into hedging arrangements with respect to foreign currency 
exposures.
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Interest Rate Risk

Term Loan Facility

 Borrowings under our Term Loan Facility will accrue interest at variable rates with a LIBOR floor of 1%, 
and a 100 basis point increase in the LIBOR on our debt balances outstanding as of June 30, 2017 would increase 
our annual interest expense by $10.7 million. 

 From time to time we may enter into hedging arrangements with respect to floating interest rate 
borrowings. While we may enter into agreements limiting our exposure to higher interest rates, any such agreements 
may not offer complete protection from this risk. During the first quarter of 2017, the Company entered into interest 
rate swap agreements with a total notional value of $500,000 to convert a portion of its variable-rate debt to a fixed 
rate. For more information regarding the interest rate swap agreements, refer to Note 7 of the Notes to the unaudited 
Consolidated Financial Statements included within this Quarterly Report.

 We do not purchase or hold any derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. 
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

 In the normal course of business both in the United States and abroad, we are a defendant in various 
lawsuits and legal proceedings which may result in adverse judgments, damages, fines or penalties and is subject to 
inquiries and investigations by various governmental and regulatory agencies concerning compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations. In view of the inherent difficulty of predicting the outcome of legal matters, we 
cannot state with confidence what the timing, eventual outcome, or eventual judgment, damages, fines, penalties or 
other impact of these pending matters will be. We believe, based on our current knowledge, that the outcome of the 
legal actions, proceedings and investigations currently pending should not have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s combined financial condition. 

Item 1A: RISK FACTORS

 There have been no material changes during the period covered by this Quarterly Report to the risk factors 
previously disclosed in our Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2016. For more information regarding 
the risks regarding our business and industry, please see our Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Item 2: UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

 Not applicable.

Item 3: DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

 None.

Item 4. MINE SAFTEY DISCLOSURES

 Not applicable.

Item 5: OTHER INFORMATION

 None.
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